

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2020

Strategies for Identifying and Managing Public-Private Partnerships' Critical Success Factors

Wayne Mingo Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Business Commons

Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Wayne Mingo

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Gregory Washington, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Rocky Dwyer, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Deborah Nattress, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2020

Abstract

Strategies for Identifying and Managing Public-Private Partnerships' Critical Success

Factors

by

Wayne Mingo

MSS, United States Army War College, 2016

MBA, Webster University, 2014

BS, Morgan State University, 1987

Doctoral of Business Administration Proposal International Business

Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2020

Abstract

In the United States, some public-private partnerships (PPPs) have cost taxpayers millions of dollars due to poor project performance or management. Grounded in the critical success factors (CSFs) framework, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies for PPP leaders to use to identify and manage critical success factors (CSFs) to offset barriers to profitability. Understanding and using effective strategies for both profitability and project success are vital to PPP value as a procurement method and private investment opportunity. The participants comprised 5 former leaders of PPPs in the southeast region of the United States with successful experience in PPPs. Semi structured interviews, internal and external documents, and the company's website were included in the data collection process. A thematic content analysis was used to analyze the data. Three salient themes emerged: diverging and converging efforts in PPPs, strategies to establish and manage PPPs, and strategies for long-term success for PPPs. Recommendations include identifying early both negative and positive CSFs and risks associated with PPPs and stakeholder engagement. The implications for positive social change include the potential to increase the probability that PPPs are successful and reduce shortfalls in public funding for projects designed to meet public needs.

Strategies for Identifying and Managing Public-Private Partnerships' Critical Success

Factors

by

Wayne Mingo

MSS, United States Army War College, 2016

MBA, Webster University, 2014

BS, Morgan State University, 1987

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2020

Dedication

I want to dedicate the following: To my father and mother, James and Florence, whose unconditionally support and encouragement throughout my life allowed me to be in a space to accomplish my goals. To my wife, Rosa, who supported me throughout this educational journey, thank you. Dedication of this study goes to my exceptional sons and daughters, Gavin, Guy, Jonathon, Morgan, Giana, and Ella. I hope my work serves as an inspiration to you to pursue educational goals to the doctoral level. I love you all.

Acknowledgments

I want to thank Dr. Gregory Washington for his indispensable support and guidance. Dr. Washington displayed patience and encouragement during challenging periods in my doctoral journey. The wisdom and guidance he imparted guided me through the completion of my study once I made the decision to listen and learn. To Dr. Rocky Dwyer, who served on my committee, thank you for your support and guidance throughout the process and whose recommendations strengthened my project. Dr. Deborah Nattress, thank you for your support and role on my review committee as University Reviewer. Dr. Richard Williams, whose friendship, advice, and encouragement kept me inspired to complete my educational journey. Lastly, Dr. Gregory Mingo, my older brother, your educational achievements were an inspiration to me, and your support during my journey is not forgotten and much appreciated.

Table of Contents

Se	ection 1: Foundation of the Study	1
	Background of the Problem	1
	Problem Statement	2
	Purpose Statement	2
	Nature of the Study	2
	Research Question	4
	Interview Questions	4
	Conceptual Framework	4
	Operational Definitions	5
	Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	7
	Significance of the Study	8
	Contributions to Business Practices	8
	Implications for Social Change	9
	A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
	CSFs	12
	Project Management-Based CSFs	13
	Risk Allocations	14
	Inadequate Private Consortiums	17
	Diminished Political Support	19
	Diminished Public Support	21
	Lack of Procurement Transparency	22

Project Management	23
PPPs	24
Barriers to PPP	27
Poor Risk Allocation	28
Transition	34
Section 2: The Project	36
Purpose Statement	36
Role of the Researcher	36
Participants	37
Research Method and Design	39
Research Method	39
Research Design	40
Population and Sampling	41
Ethical Research	41
Data Collection Instruments	43
Data Collection Technique	44
Data Organization Technique	45
Data Analysis	46
Reliability and Validity	47
Reliability	48
Validity	49
Transition and Summary	52

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	53
Introduction	53
Presentation of the Findings	53
Theme 1: Strategies to Identify and Manage CSF	54
Theme 2: Strategies to Establish and Manage PPP	57
Theme 3: Strategies for Long-Term Success for PPPs	59
Applications to Professional Practice	63
Implications for Social Change	64
Recommendations for Action.	64
Recommendations for Further Research	66
Reflections	67
Conclusion	68
References	70
Annendix A: Interview Protocol	92

List of Tables

Table 1. Samples of Delivery Methods and Risk Responsibilty	30
Table 2. Strategies to Identify and Manage CSF	66
Table 3. Strategies to Establish and Manage PPP	67
Table 4. Strategies for Long-Term Success for PPPsfor-Term Success for PPP	68

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Background of the Problem

Public-private partnerships (PPPs) are a viable option in the development and financing of public infrastructure and services following the financial crisis in 2007-2008 due to their inherent benefits (Babatunde, Perera, Zhou, & Udeaja, 2015). PPPs are procurement methods for tackling complex social and development challenges and are seen as collaborative arrangements between public and business sector actors to address societal concerns (Stadtler, 2016). PPP advantages include the sharing of risks and responsibilities among stakeholders, the inclusion of provisions to allow the public sector to retain sovereign powers of a project, and opportunities for both innovation and a long-term contractual relationship with options to dictate service and payment mechanisms (Ileana & Cristina, 2015). However, even with the inherent benefits of PPPs, the actual execution of a PPP requires refinement to mitigate the challenges to the successful execution of the partnership's contractual obligation.

Despite the enthusiasm for PPP from public and private sectors, there is slow progress in terms of implementing PPP contracts due to number of failed and distressed projects (Osei-Kyei, Chan, Javed, & Ameyaw, 2017). Common challenges involve aligning different partners' interests and priorities and striking a balance between partner autonomy and shared accountability while respecting existing authority (Stadtler, 2016). Unfortunately, factors such as public opinion, political support, poor risk management, and inflexible contracts are a few areas that can affect a project's success.

Problem Statement

In the United States, some local and state PPPs are failing or distressed due to their participant's lack of understanding of what it takes for a PPP project to succeed. The aggregate of failed PPPs from 2000 through 2013 in the southeast region of the United States has cost investors and taxpayers over \$960M (Wang & Zhao, 2018). The general business problem is the inability of business owners and investors to identify and manage critical success factors (CSFs) for long-term project management may result in business failure. The specific business problem is that some project leaders lack proportionate strategies to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability during PPPs projects' lifecycles.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project leaders in PPPs use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. The targeted population included both current and former leaders of two project teams in the southeast region of the United States with successful experiences in PPPs. Implications for positive social change from this study include the potential to reduce shortfalls in public funding for projects designed to meet public needs in infrastructure, public works, and other civil systems while reducing the need for added public debt.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods considered for this study were qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Qualitative researchers often share an assumption

about the existence of different perceptions that are intangible, shaped, and maintained or transformed by the experiences and meanings of a study's participants (Anderson, 2017). Researchers use quantitative methods for hypothesis testing for examining the significance of variables' relationships or differences (Park & Park, 2016). Mixed methods allow researchers to use components from both quantitative and qualitative studies (Doody & Bailey, 2016). In this study, I used the qualitative study method.

Four research designs were considered for this qualitative study: miniethnography, focus group, phenomenology, and case study. Researchers use miniethnographies to study and observe the culture or social world of a group within a limited period (Saunders, Lewis, & Thornhill, 2015). The use of a miniethnography design does not apply to business-related problems and is not appropriate for this doctoral study. Focus groups are used to encourage interactions between participants to capture preheld views about a subject (Saunders et al., 2015). A focus group design was not appropriate due to the omission of insights regarding respondents' personal thoughts, feelings, and views. Phenomenological designs are used to focus on participants' perceptions and is not approriate for this study. Case study researchers execute empirical investigations to understand a real-world case in depth and within a real-world context (Yin, 2018). The case study is an appropriate choice for this study because strategies to identify and manage CSFs vary and are heavily influenced by project leaders' perspectives and lived experiences.

Research Question

What strategies do PPP project leaders use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability during project lifecycles?

Interview Questions

- 1. What strategies do city project leaders use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability in PPPs?
- 2. What strategies do you use to establish PPPs and mitigate risks?
- 3. How have you addressed key challenges to forming and participating in a PPP?
- 4. What are the measures of success for PPPs within your organization?
- 5. How do you ensure you reach measures of success for PPPs?
- 6. How do you identify strategies to manage CSFs to ensure profitability of PPP projects?
- 7. Many PPPs are long-term projects extending more than 20 years. How do you ensure sustainability over a long-term lifecycle of a project and minimize reliance on contract renegotiations?
- 8. What additional information that you consider essential to ensure the longterm success of PPPs that I did not ask that you want to add?

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is CSFs. In 1961, D. Ronald Daniel introduced the antecedent concept of *success factors* to address the challenges business executives faced with extensive amounts of internal information to make decisions. The

key proposition behind success factors was that a company's information system should be discriminating and selective and focus on three to six factors to determine success or identify those key jobs that must be done exceedingly well for a company to be successful (Rockart, 1979). CSFs must align with key areas of activity in planning, administration and operations where favorable results are necessary to meet goals (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2017a). The basic construct of CSFs involves the identification of key areas of planning, administration and operations where things must go right for the business to succeed and areas of activity that need constant and careful attention including checking predetermined critical performance areas (Rockart, 1979).

According to Al-Saadi and Abdou (2016), the identification and management of CSFs increases a project's probability to success and helps achieve the objectives of different stakeholders. The researcher intended to identify and explore CSFs collectively and establish contextual meanings and associate their contributions with successful strategies for PPP projects within the target population of experienced PPP leadership.

Operational Definitions

The following terms provide context for the study:

Build-Operate-Transfer (BOT): Contractual agreement that empowers concessionaires to use public assets for building projects and levy and collect user charges. The government is responsible and accountable for the delivery of service to end-users (Aggarwal & Suklabaidya, 2017).

Build Lease Operate Transfer (BLOT): This contractual agreement is similar to a BOT except upon expiration of a lease, the ownership of the project belongs to the public

sector (Aggarwal & Suklabaidya, 2017).

Ex Ante Transaction Costs: Costs that are precontractual to contract agreement and contributes to a shared understanding by all parties involved in the negotiation of a deal. Ideally, partners create a mutual understanding between themselves and a contract is negotiated (Benaroch, Lichtenstein, & Fink, 2016).

Ex Post Transaction Costs: Costs that arise during contract execution and the agreed contractual period. The costs are associated underperformance stemming from technical defects, performance shortfalls, contract noncompliance (i.e., vendor shirking), maladaptation costs such as renegotiation, and contract compliance and monitoring costs (Benaroch et al., 2016).

Private consortium: Privately owned firms collaborating together as a single organization to exploit organizational expertise, resources, risk management and to establish effective communication and coordination for a specific project (Verweij et al., 2019).

Private sector: The sector in a society that consists of privately-owned institutions and individuals not under direct government control.

Public-private partnership (PPPs): A contractual agreement with a government agency (federal, state, or local) and the private sector to deliver a service, infrastructure, or facility for the use of the general public. Each party shares in the risks and rewards in the potential delivery (Aggarwal & Suklabaidya, 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Leedy and Ormrod (2015) said that assumptions within a study are factors out of a researcher's control; without them, the research problem could not exist. The main assumption in this study was respondents conscientiously and truthfully answered questions during the interview process. Another assumption was that participants provided information without any personal agenda or gain.

Limitations

The limitations of a study are those elements over which a researcher has no control (Soilkki, Cassim, & Karodia, 2014). Limitations are the weaknesses in the study. In this study, the focus was on projects in one county located in the southeastern region of the United States. The nuances of this county and i local government may differ in other regions or state boundaries. Additionally, state laws have a significant impact on PPP governances that may not apply to other counties. Moreover, this multicase study involved projects that were either new construction or renovations that had unique and historical meanings to the public and may not be generalizable to other municipalities.

Delimitations

According to Rovai, Baker, and Ponton (2014), delimitations are necessary to add boundaries to define the scope of a research study. CSFs vary by project type, lifecycle phase, industry, individuals, and organization. A list of rankings of the most frequent CSFs by different categories covering a 13-year period from 1990 to 2013 was used to define the scope of this research study.

The focus of this study was on PPP vertical construction projects in a city within a county in the southeast region of the United States. References to project management standards pertaining to project management processes and knowledge areas comes primarily from the Project Management Institute (PMI), the certifying body for project management professionals. The globally recognized Association for Project Management Group (APMG) PPP Certification Guide is used to identify common practices regarding project management norms.

Significance of the Study

Ameyaw and Chan (2016) posited that PPPs represent a reform tool for solving inefficiency and the absence of dynamism in the public service domain. Liu, Love, Smith, Regan & Davis (2015) stated CSFs are vital components of PPP because they identify and address key areas of business activity which are necessary to ensure competitive performance towards strategic goals. Thus, the significance of the study is that it identifies important business strategies, processes and practices, and major considerations to inform PPP leaders and project managers regarding how to improve business performance and overcome barriers to business objectives.

Contributions to Business Practices

According to Ahmadabadi and Heravi (2019), understanding CSFs in context with PPPs could increase the probability of success in terms of project and stakeholder objectives. Project leaders in-depth understanding of common barriers involving PPP construction project success could improve overall profitability. Project leaders may get

the value for money by leveraging the recommendations in this study in order to offset barriers to profitability.

Implications for Social Change

Potential contributions to positive social change can be both indirectly and directly linked to PPPs. PPPs best meet defined public demands through the allocation of not only resources but also risks and rewards (Wibowo & Alfen, 2014). Indirectly, the use of broad categories of CSFs that include a stable microeconomic environment, transparency, stable political and social environments, and judicious government control are drivers for effect positive social change (Liu, Wang, & Wilkinson, 2016). Elements of a stable microeconomic environment include sound economic policy and stable macroeconomic conditions and are advantageous for both the public domain and businesses. Trust in government is built on transparency which promotes accountability (Mader, Vitters, & Obbagy, 2018). According to Gasco, Martin, Reggi, Pyo and Luna (2018), since the early 2000s governments around the world have created open government data repositories to make government data more accessible and government transparent. PPPs are used around the world, arguably PPP transparency requirements contributed to governments making data more accessible. The requirements for stable political and social environments to ensure PPP success encourages good governance from public officials which arguably creates an environment conducive to business growth and development. The CSF of judicious government control of PPPs involves fighting corruption and benefits both the public sector and privates sectors (Mirela-Oana, Adrian, & Viorel, 2013).

Directly efficacious PPPs can improve public trust, build efficiency, resolve differences, and develop civic capacity wherever PPP are employed (Boyer, Van Slyke, & Rogers, 2016). Stakeholders who exploit CSFs can catalyze positive social change and enhance effectiveness of the public domain by providing both solutions and economic resources to offset shortages in public resources and subject matter expertise on PPP projects. Public and private partners have the option to leverage PPPs to deliver public goods and services to disadvantaged community groups, catalyze societal change resulting from improved efficiencies, and eventually improve the PPP targeted citizen standards of living and viability (Stadtler, 2016). While the focus of this study was the for-profit sector, concepts and procedures could also apply to nonprofit organizations.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

This section consists of a review of professional literature related to PPPs between private businesses and the public sector. Included in the literature review were topics regarding what specific organizational involvement ensures that business endeavors meet agreed objectives of all stakeholders. This review of literature also included the conceptual framework of CSFs as they are vital to the study. It was necessary to identify and analyze specific barriers to profitability in PPPs for construction projects. PPPs are used for a variety of projects, but the focus of this study was mainly construction projects. Critical analysis, research, and synthesis were used to describe the conceptual framework for this study.

Studying project success without considering the project management perspective can result in less than desirable satisfaction among those seeking guidance (Liu et al.,

2015). According to Haponava and Al-Jbouri (2012), researching and understanding construction project management and leveraging process-based activities can increase the comprehensiveness of understanding for many problems in process management (Haponava & Al-Jibouri, 2012). Thus, this literature review includes the standards and activities as promulgated by the APMG PPP Certification Guide and PMI, which aligns with the American National Standards Institute standards. The standards for project management and the project lifecycle framework as recommended by these widely recognized organizations is the starting point to identify and leverage barriers, CSFs, and strategies towards creating value for money or profitability for stakeholders.

The purpose of this study was to explore strategies that some project leaders in PPPs use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. Accordingly, varying definitions of PPPs and CSFs and why they exist are part of this review. The literature review includes information regarding how projects are structured and leveraged to meet the expectations of stakeholders. The researcher used PMI's process groups for a project's lifecycle to frame critical analysis and synthesis to identify salient issues in PPP projects. The literature review and research included identifying CSFs and barriers in project management process groups of initiation, planning, execution, monitoring and controlling, or closing.

Strategies for searching literature involved reviewing books, professional and trade papers, newspapers, project management websites, and dissertations from ProQuest, Google Scholar, ScienceDirect, JSTOR, DOAJ and ABI/INFORM and SAGE Journals. I consulted peer-reviewed journal articles as wells as books on PPPs and business

strategies. The literature review included 145 references, of which 6 were published in 2019 (4%), 19 published in 2018 (13%), 27 published in 2017 (19%), 29 published 2016 (20%), and 43 published in 2015-14 (30%).

CSFs

CSFs are critical areas of activity that require focus to ensure competitive performance towards an organization's strategic goals (Liu et al., 2015; Rockart, 1979). Performance improvement is a focus of process management which is critical to business success (Liu et al., 2015). CSFs are essential for process management success, and identifying and analyzing CSFs according to their importance creates value and helps stakeholders avoid undesirable results in their projects (Almarri & Boussabaine, 2017). Process management involves the application of knowledge, skills, techniques, and systems to measure and improve processes to satisfy requirements (Liu et al., 2015).

In this section, the literature review includes various researchers perspectives on CSFs on different types of projects. Wibowo and Alfen (2014) identified and argued that 16 success factors to include policy continuity, financial transparency, and corruption eradication are top CSFs for infrastructure development. Zou, Knumaraswamy, Chung and Wong's (2014) study on infrastructure in BOT agreements highlighted PPP practioners lack of general understanding of relationship management and its applications to PPP as an important CSF. The researchers Osei-Kyei, Chan, Javed and Ameyaw (2017) identified CSFs such as effective risk management, meeting output specifications, reliable and quality service operations, adherence to time, satisfying needs for public facility/service long-term relationships, partnerships, and profitability as

important CSF to all types of PPP. Al-Saadi and Abdou (2016) said the five most important CSFs as identified in their study on CSF were (a) available and effective regulatory and legal frameworks, (b) proper risk allocation and sharing, (c) clear project outcomes, (d) feasibility studies, and (e) proper project management.

Researchers Osei-Kyei and Chan (2017b) argue ecological conditions influence PPP CSFs in communities where people live and work, and argue constraints regarding these conditions within stakeholder organizations can impact negotiations for a project. Chung and Hensher (2015b) explored risk perceptions of PPP partners for toll road projects and how partners in the PPP react to their partners'efforts to shape risky conditions to mitigate vulnerabilities,

Chung and Henser (2015b) argued that risk CSFs have significant impact among PPP partners especially their perceptions on risks and use a risk profile index in their study to capture relative influences on frequent dimensions of risk found in PPPs. Osei-Kyei and Chan (2017) highlighted the importance of efficient and well-structured payment mechanisms as a critical success factor necessary to PPP because procurement delays will hinder project progression.

Project Management-Based CSFs

Projects are temporary endeavors undertaken to create a unique product or service or produce deliverables, and can involve single or multiple organizations (PMI, 2017).

The PMI is the lead organization in the United States for project management certifications and credentials. Project deliverables are a unique and verifiable product, service, or capability required to be produced to complete a process, phase, or project.

The PMI's process groups for initiating, planning, executing, monitoring, and controlling are processes to orientate and focus CSFs on mitigating barriers to PPPs. The process groups typically coincide with phases of project construction. The use of project process groups is common in the project management practice, however the project lifecycle, including starting the project, organizing the project, carrying out the work, and completing the project is used interchangeably in project management discussions (PMI, 2017; Rebello et al., 2016). The pre-project work period contains activities such as completion of a needs assessment, establish a business case and the creation of benefits management plan.

The Pareto principle was initially conceived in Italy and was based on the theory that 80% of the wealth in Italy belonged to 20% of the population (Sanders, 1988). The principle evolved into the 80/20 rule, which means that 20% of activity is responsible for 80% of outcomes (Chopra, 2017; Koch, 1997). However, the real value in the Pareto principle is the idea that normal distribution of activity is never 1-to-1, and most distributions are skewed in some form (Smith, 1988). According to Smith (1988), a good example is that 80% of car accidents are caused by 20% of the population. There is an unknown number of CSFs that apply to PPP, thus I used the Pareto principle to identify those CSFs to discuss and selection criteria is the frequency of occurrence in peer-reviewed scholarly journals as reported by Osei Kyei and Chan (2015) in their study.

Risk Allocations

Appropriate risk allocation between public and private sectors according to their risk management capabilities is crucial for the success of PPP projects because adequate

risk allocation reduces project costs and helps ensures successful project implementation (Ameyaw & Chan, 2015; Maslova & Sokolov, 2017). Inappropriate allocation of risks may compromise the project's financial viability or hinder efficient management (Maslova & Sokolov, 2017). Allocating risks to the party best able to manage them is the ethos of the majority of PPP procurement contract practices (Chung & Hensher, 2015a).

Planning risk management is defined as coordinated activities to direct and control an organization's risks (Lehtiranta, 2013). Strategies to identify, allocate, and manage risks depend to a great extent on the type of project, procurement route, and contractual arrangements between participants (Badi & Pryke, 2016). PPPs presents a slightly different approach than traditional procurement because PPPs require incomplete contracts due to the long duration of most PPP deals. Optimal risk allocation lies at the heart of PPP arrangements because poor risk allocation exposes stakeholders to unnecssary liability (Liu & Wilkinson, 2014).

According to PMI standards, project risk management should occur in the planning, executing, and monitoring and controlling process groups of project management (Marion et al., 2016). The PMI recommended planning phase activities such as planning risk management, identifying risks, performing qualitative and risk analysis, and planning risk responses (Marion et al., 2016; PMI, 2017). Typically during the executing phase, risk responses are executed, while the monitoring and controlling phase entails continous monitoring of risks (Marion et al., 2016).

Business case development is a critical success factor of PPPs before the start of any project. Business case development includes stakeholder considerations for risk

management such as the identification of potential risks, recognition of potentially risky conditions in a project, and clarification of risk responsibilities (Chan et al., 2011). The PMI (2017) recommend that business case development include both the identification of risks and a listing of known CSFs. Construction projects are unique and complex and often have high levels of uncertainty or project risks compared to other projects with comparable costs (Perrenoud, Lines, & Sullivan, 2014).

Keers and Fenema (2018) suggested that project management is the activity most at risk because of the many risk factors that require mitigation for the project to have a strong chance of success. For example, Perrenoud et al. (2014) conducted a risk impact study of 266 college campus projects with aggregate value of \$243.5M between 2005 and 2011 in the United States. Perrenoud et al. (2014) study results highlighted cost overages stemming from performance and material variances of 3.2% or \$7.79M. The top six cost impact areas by percentage of cost found were (a) scope/change decision (37.79%), (b) other (23.77%), (c) error/omission in design (10.86%), (d) unforeseen impact (9.82%), (e) codes and permits (7.73%). These results highlight common risk areas for construction practioners of similar projects particularly in the preproject work period and during the execution phase.

Another preproject work period consideration that is critical to the economic success and adequate allocation of risks in a PPP is the establishment of a robust framework for partnership. According to Rebello et al. (2016), a good PPP framework minimizes risks that a PPP project will not deliver value for money. The PPP framework should guide governments and private partners in terms of developing a PPP by outlining

procedures and rules and ensuring effective public financial management and oversight (Rebello et., 2016). Wang and Zhao (2018) suggested the public sector in a PPP should allocate construction work and corresponding risks such as construction delays and cost overruns to the private sector to reduce the public's exposure to construction risks. Wang and Zhao (2018) recommended allocating project financing responsibilities and risks involving revenue shortfall to the private sector as well.

Inadequate Private Consortiums

The agency theory is used to understand relationships between agents and principles in business. The agent is expected to represent the best interest of principles in business transactions without regard for self-interest. The agency theory is used to explain business relationship when there is a divergence in interest between principle, e.g. client, and agent e.g. a project manager interest are different in the execution of a project (Parker et al., 2018). Often agency theory is used to describe the principle and agent relationship when there are conflicting goals and there is evidence of self-serving behavior that is contrary to goals of a business agreement (Parker, Dressel, Chevers, & Zeppetella, 2018). Specifically to the inadequacies of private consortiums, agency theory is the appropriate theoretical lens to explains the potential negative behavior of parties involved in the PPP. Fortunately, Li et.al, (2015) argues under the agency theory behavior-based management efforts could be more effective when inter-firm relationships has a low level of goal conflict and a long-term orientation.

Other critical factors to consider to ensure the adequacy of private consortiums are stakeholder engagement and management. In this study, private consortiums are

important stakeholders in a PPP. Often groups such as construction firms, facility managers, financiers, insurers, consultants, and service operators collaborate in temporary organizations such as consortiums to carry out special projects (Greco, 2015). A consortium, as an organization, then contracts with the public sector and other private firms to share risks and agency concerns (Greco, 2015). Construction projects alone constitute a complex system which involves interactions, collaborations, and negotiations among many stakeholders including designers, contractors, and the general project environment (Molwus, Erdogan, & Ogunlana, 2017). Private consortiums serve as a focal point for synchronizing and managing the complexity of not only the construction project but added considerations of PPPs.

To gain both stakeholder satisfaction and PPP project success, effective process management within a project management framework is a critical component of meeting project objectives (Liu et al., 2015). According to the project management standards, stakeholder activities extend across the spectrum of project management processes except in the closing process. Arguably stakeholder engagement is critical to strengthening a private consortium. CSFs includes identifying all stakeholders in the initiating process group, planning stakeholder engagement within the planning process group, managing stakeholder engagement under the executing process group, and monitoring stakeholders under the monitor and control process group.

The project management cycle addresses stakeholder's management throughout the project lifecycle. Molwus et al., (2017) said stakeholder characteristics and project characteristics (SCPC), stakeholder analysis (SA), stakeholder dynamics (SD), and

stakeholder engagement (SE) represent four constructs of construction stakeholders CSFs. Cross referencing these constructs to the project management stakeholder tasks identified early of (a) identifying stakeholders, (b) planning stakeholder engagement, (c) managing stakeholder engagement, and (d) monitoring stakeholders reveals concurrence to the critical nature of the activity.

The CSFs for SCPC includes identifying and understanding stakeholders' area of interest in the project, clearly formulating the project mission, and ensuring flexible project organization (Molwus et al., 2017). Stakeholder analysis CSFs involves determining and assessing the capacity a stakeholder has to influence the actions of other stakeholders or the project, determining the level of closeness with the project, appropriately classifying stakeholders to their attributes, and identifying and analyzing possible conflicts and coalitions among stakeholders (Molwus et al., 2017). For stakeholder dynamics, the CSFs orientate on managing stakeholders' changes in interests, influence, relationships among stakeholders, stakeholder attributes, and lastly, managing conflict among stakeholders (Molwus et al., 2017). Finally stakeholder engagement, CSFs include formulating strategies to manage and engage the different stakeholders, developing and keeping a positive relationship among stakeholders, communicating correctly and frequently with all stakeholders, and paying attention to economic, legal, environmental, and ethical issues (Molwus et al., 2017).

Diminished Political Support

Undoubtedly, public officials are stakeholders in PPPs and require the same project management attention as mentioned for private consortiums. Political support is

an enterprise environmental factor which represents conditions, not under the immediate control of a project management team that influences, constraints, or direct a project (PMI, 2017). Enterprise environmental factors are essential elements of the initiating, planning, and executing phases of the project management lifecycle. Political support CSFs are vital to PPPs success and skilled politicians will leverage projects for political positioning.

PPPs as public policy has a direct relationship with the political settings of the host government (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2015). PPPs are politically volatile, and opposition from elected leaders or the public at large can derail a development process, delay project schedules, or at any time cancel a project long into the development process (Boyer et al., 2016). Political stability and support is critical to achieving success in PPP projects (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2017). The strong commitment of local governments, private participants, reasonable risk allocation, experienced consortium, capacity building capability of local staff, and adequate financing are factors necessary to maintain political support (Ameyaw & Chan, 2016).

Osei-Kyei and Chan (2017) stated that clear project briefs and design development, appropriate risk allocation and sharing, effective procurement process, long-term demand, clear goals and objectives, environmental impact on projects, and the minimizing of contract variations as crucial factors to PPP success and maintaining political support. Without the necessary political support, approval for public expenditure on public projects would not be granted and diminishes the attraction for investors towards a project (Jacobson, & Choi, 2008; Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2015). Political support

for PPP projects is often influenced by public involvement thus the impetus for generating public buy-in to PPPs important to have a success project(Boyer et al., 2016).

Diminished Public Support

Accordingly, the public plays a vital role in PPPs and are arguably stakeholders in PPPs as well as fall within enterprise environmental input factors for project management (PMIe, 2017). Public support activities begin in the initiation phase of the project lifecycle well before a PPP begins delivering service, before the contract award (Boyer et al., 2016). Acceptance and understanding by the public or community consisting of the media, trade unions, civil societies, and other non-governmental organizations play an essential role in ensuring the progress of PPP projects (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2015). Some researchers posited that public involvement in PPPs can affect the actual outcome of the project (Boyer et al., 2016).

Public involvement refers to a range of indirect and direct activities to solicit citizen input on decision making among elected officials and public administrators (Boyer et al., 2016). Public involvement entails the broad spectrum of government-initiated processes needed to inform or solicit comment from citizens and other relevant stakeholders affected by the PPP (Boyer et al., 2018). Direct involvement includes a range of in-person events such as public hearings, citizen panel, civilian juries, public meetings, or within virtual events such as web-based forums (Boyer et al., 2016). Activities that solicit civilian input in the decision-making process are indirect involvement actions that are employable by PPP management (Boyer et al., 2016).

PPPs involve complicated processes where the pre-contract award phase may average as long as 34 months (Boyer et al., 2018; Reeves, Palcic, & Flannery, 2015). Conversely, the life-cycle of a PPP may extend as long as 30-50 years, and public discontent can lead to protests, service disruption, bankruptcy of a private partner, additional government subsidies, policy changes, or even cancellation of the contract (Boyer et al., 2018; Chen, Hubbard, & Liao., 2013). The length of the tendering process and project lifecycle have an increased probability to draw criticism for an unfair tendering process or questionable business practices (Boyer et al., 2018); thus, activities for improving transparency are vital.

Lack of Procurement Transparency

A transparent and competitive tendering process is deemed significantly crucial to a successful PPP, but the literature on how to improve effectiveness and efficiency of the PPP tendering stage is not well documented. Transparency rests on cordial and constant communication between parties and external stakeholders (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2015). Regardless, procurement transparency activities in project management must occur throughout a project's lifecycle.

Strategies to offset the lack of procurement transparency include varied activities. Researchers posit that governments should set up a robust business case development procedures and methodologies to facilitate transparency and maintain a consistent approach to investment planning and service needs (Liu et al., 2016). In the APMG Guide, there are specific activities listed to tender, award, and sign contracts. The APMG guidebook contents include valuable recommendations for the procurement process for

PPPs because the process is different from conventional procurement. Due to the extensive time required for procurement and intricacies of the PPP processes, bidders must have sufficient time to for proper due diligence, analysis, and assessment of the contract from different perspectives (Rebello et al., 2016). Next, initial interaction with bidders should occur before the tender process launches to inform bidders about the project better but with a balance not to endanger the legality of the process or suffer a challenge that will paralyze the process (Rebello et al., 2016).

Performance evaluation of projection on an ex-post basis, along with regular audits, will serve as meaningful measures to make sure that the tendering process is conducted in ethical manners while assuring the general communities' interests (Liu et al., 2016). Liu et al. (2016) posited the public sector must provide quality tender documentation that is accurate and coherently interpreted by relevant stakeholders. Liu et al. (2016) stated that output specification and commercial principles in the tender documentation are beneficial to developing standardization of documents, policies, guidelines towards a common framework for supporting PPP transactions.

Project Management

Effective project management can be a forcing function in meeting business objectives, improving predictability, delivering the right products at the right time, responding to risks, and increasing the chances of success in projects. Researchers have found that high performing organizations across a spectrum of industries completed 89% of their projects, while low performers completed only 36% which could represent significant costs and risks (Johnson, Liu, & Flagiello, 2016). However, project

management has challenges as some projects involve a complex set of processes, and the turbulence of the business environment could explain the reason why several of them fail to reach planned objectives (Clerck & Demeulemeester, 2016).

The PMI is the recognized authority for project management professionals and established a framework consisting of five process groups to serve as a basic structure for project management. While the PMI recognizes initiating, planning, executing, monitoring and controlling, and closing as process groups, some scholars offered a slightly different listing of processes for project management. The phases of lifecycle management have three groups of (a) initiation and planning, (b) procurement and design, and(c) partnership (Liu, Love, Smith, Regan, & Davis, 2018). In this case, the initiation phase includes activities such as selection and definition, and pre-tendering work, while the procurement phase pertains to activities such as bidding, contract, and financial close (Liu et al., 2018). The partnership phase contains project design, construction, operations, maintenance, and project handover (Liu et al., 2018). In this study, the PMI's process groups in conjunction with CSFs may serve as vital elements for building a strategy for optimal performance PPP.

PPPs

PPPs are a preferred procurement method for governments to provide essential public services and there have been many successes and failures reported in normative literature (Liu et al., 2014). PPPs are designed, organized and contractually structured to meet the requirements of the project and have been in use for several years. According to Babatunde et., al (2015), the concept of using private sector capital to provide public

facilities has existed for centuries in places such as the United Kingdom, US, France, Spain. Because of general usage of PPPs in the world, there are many foreign-language publications regarding the formal, legal, and practical aspects of this form of cooperation between the public and private sector (Łakomy-Zinowik, 2017). PPPs are an essential tool in financing public sector investments as economic and financial conditions have challenged the ability of some public budgets to raise adequate financial means and to allocate resources to specific projects (Ileana & Cristina, 2015). There is not a widely accepted definition of PPPs. Some countries use the name private finance initiative (PFI) instead of PPP, but for this study, PPP is used consistently throughout this effort (Badi & Pryke, 2016).

PPPs are a method of collaboration between private business and public authorities to profit and promote economic and social development for the people within a community (Ileana, 2015). PPPs are an agreement between the government and one or more private businesses to which the business partners deliver a service in such a manner that the objective of the government aligns with the profit objective of the business (Carpintero & Helby Petersen, 2016). Gansler and Lucyshyn (2016) said PPPs are a contractual agreement between a public agency and a private sector in which the skills and assets of each sector share in delivering a service or facility for public good. T

Hueskes, Verhoest, and Block (2017) posited that PPPs are seen as bundling of various functions into one long-term contract to entice private partners. The idea is to take life-cycle costs into account and think beyond the design stage and build efficiencies that may cost more initially but create savings by lowering operating cost to deliver cost

effectiveness over time. Another version of PPP could have the public sector contract to buy a stream of services rather than an asset, and a private sector consortium decide how to supply those services in line with a service-level agreement and key performance measures (Loosemore & Cheung, 2015). Brinkerhoff and Brinkerhoff (2011) summarized the characteristics of PPPs as jointly determined goals, collaborative and consensus-based decision making, non-hierarchical and horizontal structures and processes, trust-based, and informal as well as formalized relationship, synergistic interactions among partners and lastly, shared accountability for outcomes and results. However, one of the purposes of a PPP is the transfer of risks from the public sector to the private sector (Badi & Pryke, 2016).

In most projects and particular to PPP, the term project delivery system describes the organization of parties involved and the structure necessary to transform goals and objectives into completed facilities (Moynihan & Harsh, 2016). The Associated General Contractors of America (AGC) defines a project delivery method as the comprehensive process of assigning contractual responsibilities for designing and constructing a project. Moynihan and Harsh (2016) see risk management and risk allocation as the critical consideration when deciding a delivery method.

It is not uncommon to use acronyms to refer to delivery methods. Some of the common types of delivery modes include Design-Build-Finance-Maintain (DBFM), Build-Transfer-Operate (BTO), Build-Own-Operate-Transfer (BOOT) and Design-Build-Operate-Maintain (DBOM). The DBFM method is the oldest delivery method system in the United States and is applicable when an owner contracts with a single organization to

provide design and construction of a project under a single contract (Moynihan & Harsh, 2016). The traditional delivery method is the Design-Bid-Build (DBB) in which architects and engineers design the project, then design plans are given to the owner who solicits bids from contractors, and lastly, the lowest winning bid builds the project (Moynihan & Harsh, 2016). Design-Build (DB) is a frequent reference to PPP and traditional construction delivery method. For PPPs, the delivery methods are modified to meet the objective of the partnership agreement. Ultimately, the delivery mode is selected according to the degree of sharing of risks agreed upon by the public and private stakeholders. Table 1 includes a sample of delivery methods used in either traditional or PPP procurement, iidentifies the stakeholders who is responsible for project risks, potential fundings sources and the probablity to obtain VFM.

Table 1
Samples of Delivery Methods and Risk Responsibility

Procurement	Delivery Method	Abbreviation	Risk Allocation	Possible Finance Structure	Value for Money Chances
Traditional	Design-Bid- Build	DBB	Public Responsibility	Public Funds/ Private Activity Bonds	Often less than PPP
Traditional	Design Build	DB	Public Responsibility	Public Funds/ Private Activity Bonds	Often less than PPP
PPP	Design-Build-Operate-Maintain	DBOM	Public/Private Responsibility	Private Actvity Bonds/TIFIA	Greater than DB, DBB
PPP	Design-Build-Finance	DBF	More Private than Public	Bank / Investor Debt	Greater VFM for Public
PPP	Design-Build-Finance-Operate-Maintain	DBFOM	Private Responsibiltiy	Private Equity	Better VFM for Public
PPP	Full Concessions-Developent-Rights		Private Responsibility	Private Equity	Greatest VFM for Public

Barriers to PPP

Some of the same barriers to profitability that exist for traditional procurement exist for PPPs. PPPs possess unique barriers that span a project's lifecycle of starting the

project, organizing and preparing, carrying out the work and, completing the work (PMI, 2017). The recognition of barriers to PPP is important because project leaders will need to have initial focal points to direct mitigating responses to challenges in their projects.

To gather a list of barriers to PPP that are relevant to this study, the researcher used Osei-Kyei and Chan (2015) annual publication of CSFs trends for PPPs projects from 1990 to 2013. Osei-Kyei and Chan (2015) identified that poor risk allocation, inadequate private consortium performance, diminished political support, diminished public support, and lack of procurement transparency are the most common barriers identified by scholars in the period. Undoubtedly, there are a multitude of barriers and in different combinations that can hinder a construction project's success. This study will build on existing knowledge regarding how to mitigate the aforementioned challenges.

Poor Risk Allocation

The nature of PPP projects makes risks an essential factor in project procurement, and most projects involve risks that are difficult to control and analyze (PMI, 2017).

There are many types of risks in business, but the risk to PPPs is the chance of something happening that will impact objectives and may either create an opportunity to exceed objectives or pose a threat to the achievement of objectives (Moynihan & Harsh, 2016).

PPP contracts for large-scale projects tend to have high risks associated with unpredictable and uncontrollable circumstance that the private sector is not willing to bear (Bae & Joo, 2016). Allen, Carpenter, Hutchins, and Jones (2015) stated that risk factors are much higher than industry standards in construction than it is other industries because other factors such as government funding, demographics, and market trends

largely determine demand. Risks may track similar areas such as planning risks, design and construction risks, operating risks, demand risks, residual value risks, other financial risks, and legislative risks. Primary risks to a construction project include the delivery method, contract type, cost management, duration, design, quality, site conditions, material availability, complexity, regulations, insurance, and safety (Allen et al., 2015). Bae and Joo (2016) posited to attract the private sector, local governments often end up with a disproportionate share of the risk. In general, project risk management involves increasing the frequency and effects of positive events and decrease that of adverse events (Allen et al., 2015).

Lakomy-Zinowik (2017) said PPPs are a risk-sharing relationship based on shared aspirations between those in the public sector and private partners involving the sharing of risks and rewards to deliver publicly agreed outcome or public service. Burke and Demirag (2017) defined PPPs as a type ofcooperation between the public and private actors to develop products or services in which risk, costs, and benefits are shared but add that PPPs are better VFM than traditional procurement. Although PPPs allow the public sector to transfer risks related to construction, finance, and operations of projects to the private sector, it also keeps the public sector's budget deficiencies down (Carbonara, Costantino, & Pellegrino, 2014). PPPs can increase the VFM spent providing more-efficient, lower-cost, reliable services, improving quality and promoting economic growth and employment opportunities (Carbonara et al., 2014). Burke and Demirag (2017) said to obtain VFM; a basic rule is the risk allocation should go to the party most adept at managing it, such as the case that a hotel chain manager would be more adept at

managing a hotel than a city elected official. Demirag, et al., (2012) postulated that there is an expectation inherent in PPPs that private businesses will manage risks allocated to them because private capital is at risks and financiers will perform due diligence and only allow viable projects to be selected (Demirag, Khadaroo, Stapleton, & Stevenson, 2012). While VFM is usually a predecision assessment to a PPP, it sometimes put too much emphasis on technical and analytical practice and displaces public accountability and responsibility (Chung, 2016). Nonetheless, effective risk management contributes to a project's success and is critical for both public and private parties in PPP projects to obtain objectives (Trangkanont & Charoenngam, 2014).

Challenges to Private Consortiums

Consortiums are formed for PPPs to bundle investment and operational tasks and are motivated by possible exploitation of the project economies and future revenues to back current debt and equity investments (Greco, 2015). The delivery methods that consortiums and public officials select determine the degree that the unbundling of public services are given to the private sector (Button, 2016). Thus, whatever is the PPP choice; the public sector agrees to transfer full or partial control over the project to the private consortium within the contractual arrangements (De Schepper, Dooms, & Haezendonck, 2014). In a traditional construction contract, as opposed to PPPs, no questions arise on the allocation of responsibility and accountability for the project stakeholders. Whereas with the PPP and depending on the number of organizations in the consortium, the more participants, the more complex the external stakeholder relationships and challenges for the focal organization to manage (De Schepper et al., 2014). Governance of a PPP

requires steering and coordinating by setting up organizational structures, running decision-making processes, and using instruments such as contracts and agreements that are not solely based on the government's authority (Van Den Hurk & Verhoest, 2016). Given the complexity and duration of PPP projects, the costs of preparing, awarding, and executing contracts are on some accounts the main weakness compromising their efficiency (Baker, 2017). Baker (2017) said the more complex the project and greater the duration, ex-ante and ex-post costs are likely to be generated by the opportunistic behavior of partners or unforeseen events.

Political Turmoil

According to Gawel (2017), political institutions are both drivers and barriers to PPPs success. Political risk relates to the continuing commitment of political parties to the project and is closely related to reputational risks (Chung & Hensher, 2015a). Gawel (2017) said that if PPPs arrangements serve the interest of the political decision-makers better than conventional public services, decision makers are inclined to support PPP, but when the political net costs are estimated to be higher than the economic net gain, resistance increases. PPPs allow the government officials to pursue a range of opportunistic acts in exchange for votes and are expected to amply the government's interest to demonstrate PPPs are VFM to society at large (Chung, 2016). One problem is politicians make decisions on their political timetable and often are trapped in optimism bias and may omit appropriate appraisals and overestimate expected revenues for PPPs (Bae & Joo, 2016).

Irresponsible long-term contracts often create an atmosphere for political discussions over policy in public forums (Bae & Joo, 2016). Undoubtedly, PPPs could become politically volatile, and opposition from elected leaders or the public at large can derail a development process, delay project schedules, or force a cancellation even after a project has begun (Boyer et al., 2016). Also, PPPs as a public policy for political influence but political debate arises when there is a lack of transparency and accountability in the procurement process (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2017). According to Osei-Kyei and Chan (2017), opposition parties will try to as much as possible to probe the government on the transparency and accountability of the project, and the pursing political debate could lead to a cancellation of the PPP.

Public Buy-In

Public support for allowing the private sector to develop and run public services through developing and issuing policies that facilitate PPPs provisions is critical (Almarri & Boussabaine, 2017). PPP projects have often encountered challenges of political and social nature such as opposition to land acquisition, activism for heritage site protection, and environment pollution (Agarchand & Laishram, 2017). Agarchand and Laishram (2017) stated these challenges could lead to public opposition, over-blown costs, and delays to the projects. PPPs are politically volatile, and opposition from elected officials or the public at large can derail a development process, delay project schedules, or even cancel a project well into the development process (Boyer et al., 2016). Arguably, the role of the community is limited as it may be difficult to involve them during the governance or monitoring of projects; however, they must participate in the entire project

governance (Swamy, Tiwari, & Sawhney, 2018). Public involvement refers to a range of activities that solicit citizen input on decisions making among elected officials and on decision making among public administrators using such forums as public hearings and citizen panels (Boyer et al., 2016).

Transparency and Accountability

Transparency has many different meanings with financial information (Agyenim-Boateng, Stafford, & Stapleton, 2017). Transparency is an issue that impacts public support to PPPs because a lack of financial transparency can result in acute credit and performance problems (Wibowo & Alfen, 2014b). Generally transparency is viewed as a necessary part of good governance within organizations (Agyenim-Boateng et al., 2017) Almarri and Boussabaine (2017) postulated that the transparency and accountability of the project and the pursing political debate could lead to a cancellation of the PPP. According to Wibow and Alfen (2014), transparency and accountability are essential to securing and convincing the public that underhanded transactions between private partners and contracting officials are not taking place. Mirela-Oana et al. (2013) added local budgets are essential to citizens and require transparency as they represent the strategy, planning, and content of a public administration and facilitates the relationship between public budgeting and market requirements, as well as civil society demands and citizen participation.

The literature review included a comprehensive review into the conceptual framework of CSFs as they aligned to offset common barriers to PPPs success. The research contains evidence that PPPs are complexed but are like traditional procurement

practices except in some areas such as duration of the project lifecycle and the number of stakeholders in the partnership. Project management practices plays a key role in the success of PPPs and the risks associated with the partnership requires passing the risks to the parties that are most suited to absorb the realization of the risks. Arguably, the researcher's review of the literature provides substantive content to identify strategies to offset barriers to success in PPPs construction projects in the target area.

The literature review contained a vast amount of information regarding the history, success factors, challenges, achievements, and developments of PPPs and the conceptual framework. However, the literature synthesis includes the recognition that there are many success factors that can influence the outcome of PPPs. Moreover, the adherence to proven project management practices will encapsulate CSFs but each project requires its own particular strategy to be successful. The findings from the literature suggests that among the stakeholders in PPPs, there must be a balance between meetting the needs of the public sector and maximizing the profits of the private business owners.

Transition

The focus of Section 1 in this qualitative multiple case study involved PPPs' intended purpose and utility, the conceptual framework of CSFs, and salient barriers that may help or hinder reaching project goals and objectives. In this section, I highlighted that understanding the complexity of the contracting process as critical to ensuring that risks are assigned to the parties that are best suited to absorb the consequences of the realization of those risks. Lastly, I provided the recap of the synthesis of the finding

derived from the literature review.

Section 2 includes a description of the work required for the study and an explanation of the role of the researcher in the study design. The section contains a description of the research design and method selected to explore strategies PPP project leaders could use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability in projects' lifecycle. Additionally, the section contains an explanation of the population and sampling, methods of data collection, and data analysis. Lastly, the section contains a description of how an acceptable level of reliability and validity is obtained within the study. Section 3 contain study findings.

Section 2: The Project

Section 2 contains a review of the role of the researcher, the qualitative research method, and the case study design. The selection criteria for participants and population, explanations regarding ethical requirements of research, data collection instruments, techniques, and organization are discussed. Finally, Section 2 examines the reliability and validity of the study.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project leaders in PPPs used to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. The targeted population included both leaders and former leaders of two PPP project teams in the southeast region of the United States with successful experiences in PPPs. Implications for positive social change include the potential to reduce shortfalls in public funding for projects designed to meet public needs in terms of infrastructure, public works, and other civil systems while reducing public debt.

Role of the Researcher

In this qualitative research study, I was responsible for the data collection process, which included interviewing participants for gathering, sorting, organizing, analyzing, and interpreting data collected. The researcher served as the data collection instrument. Any researcher's cultural and experiential background has biases, values, and ideologies that can affect the interpretation of a study's findings. Yin (2018) said that good case study researchers will strive for the highest ethical standards in terms of being honest,

avoiding deception, and accepting responsibility for one's work. To demonstrate due diligence in terms of mitigating personal bias in data collection and for verification, the researcher used techniques such as interview protocols, member checking and review, data saturation, triangulation, and carefully-constructed interview questions. The researcher did ensure the data analysis is mainly inductive, allowing meaning to emerge from the data, rather than the more hypothetical-deductive approach of quantitative research

The role of the researcher involves adhering to ethical considerations regarding respect, beneficence, and justice for all subjects. The researcher adhered to the spirit of the Belmont Report in the case study to maximize benefits and reduce risks to subjects as much as possible, ensure individuals participate voluntarily, and ensure the distribution of risks and benefits to potential research subjects are balanced and equal. Prior to this study, the researcher never had a relationship with anyone in the study. One possible relationship which existed between the researcher and participants was that the researcher was a student member of the PMI. The researcher was unaware of any participant being a member of this organization, and if any participant was a member, it was coincidental and had no bearing on this study's findings. Lastly, the researcher set aside all personal opinions and experiences and not view data through a personal lens.

Participants

Participants in this study included project leadership from both the private and public sector who had worked on the PPP for a new sports facility and/or renovated PPP hotel in the southeast region of the United States or had expert knowledge on PPPs.

Specifically, participants met specific criteria to answer the research question, and their selection relied on alignment with eligibility requirements. Participants either had personal experience working with a PPPs or postgraduate academic knowledge on PPPs or project management. Participants' knowledge included a basic understanding of risk management considerations needed for PPPs. Participants were knowledgeable enough to share valuable perspectives to interview questions and provided the researcher with insight into the study. Since the lifecycle of a construction PPP can extend as far as 20 years (Carpintero & Peterson, 2016), participants were exempt from having to experience the entire lifecycle of a PPP. Individuals in the public sector were experienced in PPP and served in the capacity to understand how a PPP is developed, organized and intended to be used. All participants did have 2 or more years of experience with any of the lifecycle phases of a PPP project.

The strategy used to gain access to participants involved identifying organizations whose affiliation to PPP would have a pool of potential participants. Yin (2018) suggested some sources to identify participants include national associations, agencies, and state and local levels of government. The strategy for gaining access to person with authority to authorize use of organizational resources included a review of public documents to identify participants in the PPP and the National Council of PPPs for a list of local members. The strategy for access to public sector officials was not as tricky or complicated as the strategy to access private participants. The inherent nature of public service and transparency obligations to the public provided easy access to public officials. Strategies used included scheduling appointments through telephone calls,

emails, and in-person visits. Gaining access to participants required several considerations. First, the researcher was aware that gaining access to participants was a continuing process that extended beyond an initial or single event but required iterative and incremental actions such as following up on commitments.

Establishing and maintaining working relationships with participants requires researcher engagement and participation (Wolgemuth et al., 2014). The strategy for engaging participants included the informed consent form and interview protocols for semi-structured interviews. Researchers should establish trust with research participants and be honest about the intended purpose and possible outcomes of the study (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). In a qualitative study, researchers should establish enough trust with participants so that their data set represents meaningful authentic and rich meanings, experiences, and perceptions (Anderson, 2017).

Research Method and Design

Research Method

Qualitative research methods are subjective and involve the views of participants in the study (Smith, 2018). The process is inductive, and patterns or theories evolve throughout the research process (Guba & Lincoln, 1989; Smith, 2018). A qualitative researcher accepts that there are multiple perspectives an event and not just one objective view (Kisely & Kendall, 2011). Qualitative methods help gain an understanding of underlying reasons and motivations and provide insights regarding the setting of a problem and generate ideas for later quantitative research (Park & Park, 2016). The qualitative research method was more advantageous for this study because it involves the

subtleties of what is found in information and less on information found in quantitative methods. Anderson (2017) characterized qualitative research by both the importance attached to interpretive, naturalistic, and holistic inquiry and the shared assumptions of qualitative researchers that multiple perspectives exist. Ultimately, qualitative research methods rely heavily on human experiences and observations as opposed to positivism and definiteness.

Research Design

According to Yin (2018), a case study use is common in many situations, and it captures the knowledge of an individual, group, organization on a social, political or related phenomenon. The case study involves understanding the dynamics of the topic within settings or context (Saunders et al., 2015). Additionally, the case study involves understanding the intricate complexity and idiosyncrasies of a particular case investigation of an entity deemed worthy of analysis (Park, & Park, 2016). Case studies are used where the case in questions represents an extreme and unique case (Gajendran et al., 2014).

The multiple case study design was selected over other designs because it is methodically appropriate to capture participant perspectives and the cases in question represent unique PPP cases. Additionally, the multiple case designs are skewed to provide replication logic because each case could produce similar or different data and perhaps predictable findings. The researcher obtained data saturation in the study at the point at which no new information or themes emerge from the completion of interviews and case document reviews.

Population and Sampling

The research design is a multiple case study. The population for this study will comprise of people that best align with the research question by hands-on participation with the cases and proclamations of being subject matter experts on PPPs. Ideally, participants represent leadership from both the private and public sector that are working on the PPP for a new sports facility and/or a renovated PPP hotel in the southeast region of the United States with knowledge on PPPs.

The sampling method was a purposeful selection of the participants based on both the selected criteria and the small sampling (Saunders et al., 2015). A purposive sampling strategy differs from those of probabilistic sampling, seeking not generalization or randomness, but a well-informed selection to maximize the chances of observing the phenomena associated with this study (Serra, Psarra, & O'Brien, 2018). More important, the sampling method provided analytic generalization based on corroboration and advance the conceptual concepts in the study (Yin, 2018). The sample size is not predetermined but was dependent on data saturation during the interview process.

Ethical Research

Ethical decision making, at its very core, is personal and is an individual struggle (Lehnert, Craft, Singh, & Park, 2016). Lehnert et al. (2016) posited that qualitative methods that seek to uncover meanings, understand the intent, explain behavior, and increase awareness of factors behind decision making are a natural choice. To ensure all choices are ethical and to increase awareness by participants in this study, several steps are taken to promote ethical research by the guidance promulgated by Walden

University's Institutional Review Board (IRB approval number 09-20-19-0667689). Specific measures to promote ethical research included the informed consent form, withdrawal procedures and incentives, retention and protection of documents, and protection of participants and organizational identities.

All participants completed the informed consent form before participation in this study. The consent form covered eight significant parts of consent. The consent form covered the invitation information explaining what to participate in, to what end, how, how long, and for whom. Risks, rights, and possible benefits are topics that are part of the discussion in the consent form. Next, the consent form covered the confidentiality of records, the dissemination of results, and any special conditions for children. Lastly, the researcher provided contact information and copies of the consent form.

Participants had the option to withdraw from the study at any time. The researcher did ask the participants to give notice of their intent to withdraw from the study. Participants had the inherent right to request that material from their interview withheld and the right to review transcripts before published. The incentives for participants in the study include the opportunity to be heard, their opinions to be honored, and the presentation of their experiences to a broader public audience. No other incentives applied to this study.

The confidentiality of the participants occurred in several ways. Throughout the study, participants will be referred to as P for participant along with a number to show their sequence in the interview process (e.g., P1, P2, P3, etc.). All collected business identification information is confidential, and researcher discipline ensured accurate and

proper coding and recording of data collected. The final report did not disclose names, or organizational names, or organizational titles. The researcher will save collected data for 5 years with a password protected external drive in a locked container to protect the rights of the participants. After 5 years, the researcher will shred the interview notes and delete the files. This Walden IRB approval number, AO667689, is without any identifiable information of individuals or organizations

Data Collection Instruments

The researcher served as the primary data collection instrument and relied on data collected from semi-structured interviews, documents, and other written materials as recommended by participants. The interview questions were open-ended and structured to build upon and explore the participant's responses to the question by having the participant reconstruct their experience in the topic of PPPs. In this study, the researcher used open-ended questions to encourage participants to provide thorough answers to obtain facts.

An interview protocol was used to execute a procedural level of interviewing. The interview protocol is an instrument of inquiry designed for asking questions for specific information related to the aim of a study as well as conversation on a particular topic (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Jack and Furgerson (2012) recommended that the interview protocol include a script of what to say before and at the conclusion of the interview, as well as prompts to collect informed consent and prompts to remind the interviewer of the information they are interested in collecting (Jacob & Furgerson,

2012). Accordingly, the researcher followed this recommendation as well as provided the interview protocol in Appendix A.

To enhance reliability and validity, the researcher used activities such as triangulation, transcript review, member checking, and audit trails. Information collected during interviews were used to determine themes to show in the findings. To promote consistency in the findings, the researcher used the NVivo qualitative data analysis software (QDAS). The use of QDAS provides evidence of how the data is manipulated, managed, and represented. QDAS is a resource that enhances transparency, validity, rigor, and trustworthiness of qualitative research projects.

Data Collection Technique

There are three basic typologies for interviews: structured, semi-structured and indepth, and unstructured interviews (Myers, 2013; Saunders et al., 2015). The data collection technique in this study involves semi-structured interviews. The data collection technique will help answer the research question: What strategies do PPP project leaders use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability during project lifecycles? The use of structured interviews requires questionnaires based on a predetermined standardized set of questions and are often used to collect quantifiable data (Saunders et al., 2015). Often, structured interviews have pre-coded answers, therefore, the rigidity of structured interviews is not appropriate for this study (Saunders et al., 2015). Unstructured interviews allow interviewers to use open-ended questions, and allow the interviewees to answer freely about events, behavior, and beliefs in relation to the topic (Myers, 2013; Saunders et al., 2015). Unstructured interviews are also called

in-depth interviews and require no predetermined list of questions. In-depth interviews are seen as phenomenological interviewing because the interviewer gains information from assumptions drawn from phenomenology derived from open-end questions. Semi-structured interviews are used in this study since there is a theme in the research, and the order of questions are varied and new questions inserted in the context of the research question. One advantage of semi-structured interviews are participants will receive information about the themes before the interview which adds to the validity and reliability factor by allowing the participant to prepare.

A vital element of the data collection technique is validation. While semi-structured interviews are ideal for data collection, activities such as taking notes, audio recordings, and member checking are essential to validation. While taking notes and audio recordings are designed to capture accurate data input, Harvey (2015) described member checking as a process of bringing ideas back to research participants to confirm their input and to gather material to elaborate on categories. Member checking is also known as member validation (Harvey, 2015). Member checking was completed for all interviews to ensure participants agree that data is captured and interpreted correctly.

Data Organization Technique

All transcripts generated from the semi-structured interviews are stored filed chronologically. Notes taken during the interviews process have individual folders and have dates with appropriate labeling. Some researchers suggest that the right software will provide an audit trail and increase the rigor of the research study (Sotiriadou, Brouwers, & Le, 2014). The data organization plan included the use of QDAS such as

NVivo to assist in mind-mapping, coding, and identifying themes. The use of qualitative data analysis software aided the thematic content analysis by speeding up the process, enhancing the rigor, and adding flexibility during the data analysis by providing different perspectives (Oliveira, Bitencourt, Zanardo dos Santos, & Teixeira, 2016). QDAS appeal for its potential to make a researcher's sense-making process around data analysis more explicit and thereby more transparent (Paulus et al., 2017).

The researcher's data collection plan required all data stored on a password-protected personal computer as well as on an external hard disk backup drive for the required 5 years minimum storage period. The paper records storage container is a locked file cabinet. To ensure the confidentiality of the participants, no one will have access to his or her password protected data.

Data Analysis

The analysis of data collected included the use different perspectives of triangulation. Triangulation involves using more than one source of data and method of collection to confirm the validity and credibility of research data, analysis, and interpretation (Saunders et al., 2015). Turner, Cardinal, and Burton (2015) argue that triangulation generates a better understanding than other validating and credentialing methods of a given theory or phenomenon for qualitative studies.

There are four types of triangulation: data, theoretical, researcher, and lastly, methodological (Abdalla, Oliveira, Azevedo, & Gonzalez, 2018). Data triangulation means collecting data from different periods of time and sources to obtain a more vibrant and more detailed description of the phenomena (Abdalla et al., 2018). Theoretical

triangulation refers to what researchers aim to accomplish in the study as it pertains to a theory which may include theory generation, elaboration, and testing (Turner et al., 2017). Theoretical triangulation aims at involving different theoretical approaches from diverse areas of knowledge into the analysis of the same phenomenon phenomena (Abdalla et al., 2018). Methodological triangulation fulfills this requirement using multiple methods of obtaining detailed data about the phenomenon and is commonly used. Interviews, member checking, and the review of literature were methods used in the plan to obtain methodological triangulation.

The researcher used data analysis that will include alpha-numeric labels to protect participant's identity and to protect confidentiality. The researcher used coding to organize data into themes, and eventually analyzing and interpreting the findings of the study using NVivo software to assist with the analytical efforts. The researcher recorded all interviews to ensure accuracy and the proper categorization into themes generated from the data collected.

Reliability and Validity

According to Saunders et al. (2015), reliability and validity are central to judgments about the quality of research in the natural sciences. Reliability refers to the replicability of the same findings, and validity refers to the appropriateness of measures used, accuracy of analysis of the results, and lastly, generalizability of the finding (Saunders et al., 2015). Reliability and validity are achievable through various techniques such as independent review of transcripts, member checking, and triangulation (Kisely & Kendall, 2011).

Reliability

The minimum requirements for reliability are evidence of dependability, consistency, and repeatability of a project's collection, interpretation, and analysis or the ability to obtain the same results if the study is repeated (Morse, 2015). The researcher used overlapping methods such as triangulation, member checking, establishing an audit trail, and using an interview protocol to ensure reliability in this study. Triangulation involves using more than one data source of data and method of collection to confirm the credibility and authenticity of the research data (Saunders et al., 2015). Triangulation is a qualitative research strategy to test validity through the convergence of information from different sources (Carter, Bryant-Lukosius, DiCenso, Bythe, & Neville, 2014). When similar findings or themes emerge from alternative sources and methods, this provides evidence of convergence (Watts et al., 2017). The task involves using two or more independent sources of information (Saunders et al., 2015). The use of semi-structured interviews, literature review, and case study design will aid in the triangulation of data for this study.

Member checking involves giving a summary of my interpretation of the interview or the completed analysis back to the participant to confirm accuracy, obtain additional information, or correct data (Morse, 2015; Saunders et al., 2015). While member checking is also known as member validation, it is the most crucial technique for establishing credibility in research studies (Harvey, 2015). Member checking was used to ensure accurate recording and interpretation.

Audit trails are the systematic documentation of all procedures and data relevant to the study (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Audit trails should enable readers to make their judgment about the quality, transferability, and worth of a study by allowing the reader to follow a researcher's decision trail and associate it with his or her conclusions.

Notwithstanding, Yin (2018) think audit trails are mechanical, but the researcher believed an audit trail enhanced the validity and trustworthiness of this study. An important aspect of reliability is the reassurance that another researcher investigating the same issue or working the same data set would derive the same meaning as a previous researcher (Ali & Yusof, 2011). Thus, the researcher will leave an audit trail to assist with the methodological process which involves the careful application of choices and research design strategies enacted in the research project.

Validity

Credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability are essential characteristic to a study to attest to the trustworthiness and plausibility of this study. Credibility entails the accurate description of the phenomenon and the generation of credible claims that are the by-product of a systematic process used in all stages of research (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). To achieve credibility in this study, member checking, peer debriefing, triangulation, and expert checking were used.

Member checking entailed returning interpretative summaries to participants for verification and confirmation of accuracy and contributes to the credibility of the research (Harvey, 2015). According to Harvey (2015), member checking makes research trustworthy and fulfills the ethical obligation to allow participants the right to reply to

information about them. However, member checking of the analysis is not always practical because if the participant does not agree with the analysis, awkwardness will occur (Morse, 2015).

The purpose of peer debriefings is to prevent bias and aid in the conceptual development of this study (Morse, 2015). Peer debriefing is the engaging professional colleagues in analytic discussions and data interpretations as well as external evaluation of research (Liao & Hitchcock, 2018). Theoretically, the debriefing takes place readily, producing qualitative feedback and an optimal learning transfer (Der Sahakian et al., 2015). Liao and Hitchcock (2018) argued that the use of triangulation add credibility to their research should not only converge evidence from multiple data sources, and methods but need to explain when it occurs and when it does not. Accordingly, the researcher did adhere to this requirement during this study. Expert checking involves using outside experts to assess the quality of the study, and the researcher used local project management and experienced construction management professionals for their opinions regarding the content of the study.

Transferability is similar to external validity or generalizability for qualitative research or refers to that which can be transferred to other contexts or settings (Morse, 2015; Saunders et al., 2015). To obtain transferability, the researcher provided full descriptions of the research question, design, context, and findings. Abdalla et al. (2018) posited that a detailed description of the object of research is essential in not only achieving credibility, but it helps in the transmission of both real and examined situations in its surrounding contexts. The use of thick descriptions will facilitate achieving

transferability which requires providing details when describing processes and findings. Readers of this study have the opportunity to judge transferability of the study to other settings in which the reader is interested in research.

Confirmability in a research study is established by a qualitative researcher's effort to maintaining objectivity (Abdalla et al., 2018). According to Abdalla et al. (2018), recommends that measures must be taken to assure the conclusions derived come from the experiences of the participants and not the traits of the researcher. To enhance confirmability, the researcher used negative case analysis, triangulation, and member checking. Triangulation and member checking as previously mentioned will address concerns of researcher bias. Negative cases serve as a key to understanding most of the commonly occurring cases especially when they are used in comparison to identify differences between themselves and a current study (Morse, 2015). Liao and Hitchcock (2018) recommended a search for disconfirming evidence after preliminary themes and analysis are complete and, if a negative case is found, it should be recognized and explained, mainly if it influences a modification of themes.

Data saturation is the point at which no new information or themes can be found in data (Boddy, 2016). However, this does not mean that a single case is never enough because data saturation requires two cases or more. According to Saunders et al. (2015), a researcher should strive to conduct interviews until any new information is provided. The researcher used interviews to the point there was redundancy in responses.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies that project leaders in PPPs use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. Section 2 identified the role of the researcher, ethical research guidelines, requirements of participants, research methodology, research design, data collection and organization, data analysis, reliability, and validity. Section 3 include the presentation of findings, suggestions to apply to professional practice, possible implication for positive social change, recommendations for actions, proposals for future research, and lastly, the conclusion of the study.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore strategies project leaders in PPPs used to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. The research population for this study was professionals from both the public and private sectors with two or more years of experience either investing, managing, or participating in PPP agreements. In particular, two case studies involving PPPs in the southeast region of the United States involving a sports venue and a hotel served as the focal points for this study. Five participants were engaged through interviews and openly answered the interview questions. The researcher conducted member checking by returning transcript summaries to participants for their responses to confirm, disconfirm, or add more information to the analysis.

The findings in this study are based on perspectives of all participants and supported by scholarly literature. The findings included information regarding the complicated nature of PPPs, strategic importance of risk planning, thorough contract negotiations, and the critical importance of having the right project and partners in a long-term agreement. The findings are pragmatic to apply to professional practice and to positively affect social change.

Presentation of the Findings

The purpose of this study and overarching research question involve identifying strategies PPP project leaders use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to success in project lifecycles. The findings are grouped into three salient themes, which

are strategies to identify and manage CSF, establish and manage PPPs, and long-term success for PPPs. Minor themes were further developed from participant discussions and the literature review.

Theme 1: Strategies to Identify and Manage CSF

The first theme is derived from the diverging and converging efforts by public and private members in a PPP to purse different and common goals. Diverging and converging efforts include the public and private sector's strategies to identify and manage CSF to reach goals. The nature of the minor themes suggests a divergence in objectives or competing goals between the sectors which complicates PPPs. Boyer et al. (2016) argue the more influence the private sector has in shaping the design and delivery of public services, the higher the potential for that service to deviate from constituent interests as represented by the government. PPPs are complicated due to competing goals of creating value for money versus obtaining maximum profits for the private sector.

Nonetheless, both sectors are motivated by different perspectives and CSFs. Wegrzyn (2016) argued that the public and private sectors do not share common perceptions regarding PPP success and the private sector assigns lower level of importance to CSFs if impact does affect the private sector objectives. Arguably, a partnership with competing goals requires goal congruence to be successful.

Regarding the public sector's strategy to identify and manage CSFs, participants posited that a public sector goal in a PPP is not driven by profitability but providing value to the public and should include public involvement. The impetus for public involvement gives credence to critical factors such stakeholder management, public and political

support calling for public buy-in for PPPs through deliberative activities like town hall meetings or webinars to convene members of the community to familiarize people with the project (Boyers et al., 2016). Good public involvement will improve organizational relationships between the public and PPP partners, and public opinion or demand should be reflected in service provisions plan to reduce opposition from the public (Shi et al., 2016). Boyers et al. (2016) suggested that planned activities with the public to discuss a PPP convey procedural fairness and add to the legitimacy of the project. Participants stated the need for stakeholder engagement as a CSF. Participants suggested that parties in a PPP develop relationships among its members in order to sustain partnerships and deal with the challenges of long-term agreements. Burke and Demirag (2017) identified relationship management as an essential factor in PPPs in the sense that parties should form a relationship rather than a strictly contractual relationship. Burke and Demirag (2017) listed factors contributing to stakeholder relationships such as knowledge and resource sharing, autonomy to make decisions, incentives for objectives, risk transfer, and trust to the extent parties rely on and believe in each other. Thus, it is most important for the public sector to select the right partner. While selecting the right

The private sector's strategy to identify and manage CSFs is developed from participants' insistence that private partners identify risks associated with PPPs. Some of the participants suggested using specialized teams to identify risks and risk registers to facilitate risk mitigation. Ameyaw and Alfen (2017) said that regardless of country or project sector, proper risk allocation and risk mitigation contribute significantly to PPP success. PPP objectives for the public sector should include transferring risks related to

construction, finance, and operations of projects to the private sector to relieve the burden from the public sector (Carbonara et al., 2014; Xiong, Zhao, Yuan & Luo, 2017). Thus, risk management is a CSF for the private sector.

The private and public sector members of a PPP must execute risk management with a converging effort in order for a PPP to succeed. Common risks associated with PPP can be identified as either relational and participation risks or systemic and specific project risks (Keers & Fenema, 2018; Xiong et al., 2017). Relational risks refer to the possibility that a partner does not comply with the spirit of cooperation and displays opportunistic behaviors which leads to trust issues concerning misuse of knowledge of partners (Keers & Fenema, 2018). Performance risks involve the possibility intended strategic goals are missed even though cooperation is good among partners (Keers & Fenema, 2018). Performance risks involve capability and control issues such as lack of control, inadequate decision-making capability, and demand instability (Keers & Fenema, 2018). Systematic and specific project risks have subgroups of risks. Systematic risk groups are political, economic, legal, social, and natural risk groups (Xiong et al., 2017). Project risks for the private sector are the risks that jeopardize the project to go over budget and schedules to go past deadlines. Participants recommended leveraging incentives, delivery methods, and levels of control over the project to manage CSF. Since PPP contracts are complex documents written in the context of uncertainty and imperfect information, these contracts lend themselves to opportunistic behavior (Soliño & Gago de Santos, 2017). Soliño and Gago de Santos (2017) encouraged incentives in PPP contracts to motivate private partners to align their goals with public officials to limit moral hazards and perhaps transaction costs. The public sector may also incorporate pernicious incentives for opportunistic behavior (Domingues & Zlatkovic, 2015). While many variables dictate contract negotiations, risks will always be the most relevant variables.

Theme 2: Strategies to Establish and Manage PPP

The second theme, strategies to establish and manage PPP, is derived from participants' perceptions regarding establishing, managing, and participating in PPPs. In establishing a PPP, participants felt that it was critical that partnerships consisted of the best teams available for the job in terms of expertise, financing, and capacity. Participants also expressed concern that there had to be clear objectives and goals for projects under consideration.

The participants were adamant that in establishing a PPP key partners must provide proof of financial stability and resources prior to joining the PPP. Participants said this requirement was a critical success factor to establish a PPP. Participants thought it should be a mandatory requirement that potential partners provide proforma financial statements and evidence of their operational and financial strength. It is not uncommon for private firms to take on significant investments to fund PPP activity during initial stages of a PPP. However, when making considerations for selecting partners or teams in a PPP, Danau and Vinella (2015) warned that private investment reliance on debt could be problematic to a PPP since projects highly-leveraged with more debt than other financing methods tend to be vulnerable to default. The ability to fund and sustain project activities is an important criterion for both establish and manage a PPP. For PPP in

which private partners intend to fund certain aspects of a project, Danau and Vinella (2015) argues that project financing should consist of a mix private funds of loan debt, credit lines and private investment.

The participants in the case study expressed sincere concern about having clear objectives and goals for the PPP. This is essential for several reasons because the delivery method and financing methods are derived from the goals or objectives of the organization. P4 and P6 raised the prospect of using a PPP as a tool to obtain other goals and objectives beyond building structures. The participants expressed that sometimes the public sector partners will not make decisions that make business sense but is for the greater good of the community. This is similar to Laomy-Zinowik's (2017) example of a BOT contract where a local government needs financing for a project, and a private investor gets a concession for constructing and exploiting an element of public construction. After the construction is completed, a private entity gains profits from exploiting it. As with the case studies, the goals were not only to provide a professional sports venue for the local community and expand the capacity for visitors to stay in the local area but change negative perceptions about work and lifestyle in the county. PPPs should be viewed from different perspectives. According to Wegrzyn (2016), PPPs can be seen as a specific construction project, project delivery reform, government policy, part of the strong and capable private sector in a mixed economy, and part of a modern governance task. As previously mentioned, goal congruence is necessary with PPPs in order to achieve goals and objectives.

Discussions involving risks and public acceptance or buy-in are challenges listed by participants in the case studies. However, contract negotiations for long-term projects are an additional challenge worthy of being mentioned. Part of the challenge with PPP contracts is that, in practice, they are incomplete to the extent it is not possible to anticipate all future scenarios for any given contractual arrangement over an extended period such as 20 years or more (Domingues & Zlatkovic, 2015). PPPs regularly face significant challenges because of changing circumstances that were not anticipated in the planning phase, which may cause a project to exceed its budget and timespan (Demirel, Leendrtse, Volker, & Hertough, 2017). In some instances, service operators, facility managers, insurers, and consultants legally establish a new company or special purpose vehicle (SPV) to carry out the project (Greco, 2015). According to Greco (2015), SPVs may rely on a web of contracts aimed at various tasks, risks, costs, and revenues among all private partners. Potentially, these circumstances complicate contracting efforts.

Theme 3: Strategies for Long-Term Success for PPPs

The third theme involved strategies for long-term success for PPPs. The minor themes are related to measures of success and secondly, considerations to have long-term sustainment for PPPs. The theme follows the same methodology as the previous two themes and strategies to address the uncertainty of project performance.

Measures of success are subjective to each stakeholder's perspective (Davis, 2016; Davis, 2018). Micro and macro methods are used to evaluate time, cost, quality, performance, safety, and factors of whether the end-users are satisfied with the results, respectively (Davis, 2016). Key performance indicators are seen as identified

quantifiable critical success factors to achieve organizational goals and therefore, measures of success (Davis, 2016). Key performance indicators, such as earned value management are used to monitor project conditions during the life cycle of a project (Eshghi, Mousavi, Antucheviciene, & Mohagheghi, 2019). One other popular method to measure success is a balanced scorecard. The balanced scorecard is a framework to measure performance from both a financial and non-financial standpoint (Singh & Sethi, 2017). Some balanced scorecards give a balanced view of financial, internal business processes, learning and growth, and customer satisfaction (Davis, 2016).

Participants in the case studies offered various measures of success that matched one or more methods. Four out of five participants indicated that end-user acceptance is the dominant method for the measure of success in the case studies, and half of the participants viewed profits and financial indicators such as the internal rate of return as the next best method. According to one participant, a minimum tax value clause is in the contract for the case study, and the private sector must pay the local government if the minimum tax value is not obtained. Incentives are a measure of success as key performance indicators and have a causal relationship in which the former has a causal relationship to the latter (Crane, Koch, & Wei, 2018).

The participants contributed to the findings that a willingness to engage partners and mutual commitment among partners are two critical considerations for long-term sustainability. Three of the participants expressed the importance of partners willing to work through conflict during the long-term of the partnership. The participants felt that litigating through disagreements would put a negative strain on the long-term

partnerships, whereas working to have a mutual understanding is preferred. Chung (2016) identified the inability of partners to work through conflict as a relational risk. Chung (2016) stated it takes the public sector's willingness to accept responsibility and risks, its reciprocity in handling contract ambiguities, and the ethical stances of both partners contribute to mitigating relational risks.

Some academic scholars have converging views regarding mutual commitment among partners in a PPP. Padma, Rosa, and Antonio (2017) suggested that there needs to be trust between the partners forged by strong two-way communications. Padma, Rosa and Antonio (2017) believed good communication builds trust between the parties and is a prerequisite for increased commitment. Benítez-Ávila, Hartmann, Dewulf, and Henseler (2018) offered that in the PPP context, relational norms should emphasize the need to openly discuss and involve different perspectives for addressing project issues given the diverse nature of varying organizational logics and tacit concern of public transparency.

Table 2
Strategies to Identify and Manage CSF

Participant	Public Sector	Private Sector	
Participant 1	X		
Participant 2		X	
Participant 3	X	X	
Participant 4	X	X	
Participant 4	X	X	

Participant 5

Note. X represents frequency contribution to theme

Table 3
Strategies to Establish and Manage PPPs

Participant	Establishing	Challenges to
	PPP	Forming PPP
Participant 1		X
Participant 2	X	
Participant 3		X
Participant 4	X	
Participant 5		

Note. X represents frequency contribution to themes.

Table 4
Strategies for Long-Term Success for PPPs

Participant	Measures of	Long-Term
	Success	Sustainment
Participant 1		X
Participant 2	X	
Participant 3	X	
Participant 4		

Note. X represents frequency contribution to themes.

Applications to Professional Practice

Business practices can be enhanced by the findings in this study. PPPs are promoted as alternative procurement methods to provide public services and have been used both successfully and unsuccessfully for several decades (Ahmadabadi & Heravi, 2019). The findings in the study are indicative that PPPs are complicated. PPPs require thorough risk planning, insightful contract negotiations, and a strong partnership to endure challenges during the long-term relationship. The application of critical success factors to address these concerns are applicable to business practices.

It is well recognized that many factors may affect project performance or project success; however, due to various constraints, it makes sense to focus on the most critical success factors (Zuo et al., 2018). The use of critical success factors is practical to integrate into business practices because they play a crucial role in enabling and smoothing the process of integrating sustainability into project management practices (Banihashemi et al., 2017). Furthermore, scholars such as Ameyaw and Chan (2016) and Osei-Chan (2017a) argued CSFs are needed for PPPs to contribute to a notable level of project success. Lastly, PPP project leaders should form teams of qualified and experienced project professionals to explicitly discuss critical factors for the PPP in all phases of the lifecycle of the project.

Implications for Social Change

Public and private stakeholders leveraged PPP opportunities to not only improve the economic opportunities in the city and increase the tax values of affected properties, but to add a new entertainment venue to the city. The projects studied are tools to recruit businesses and business professionals to the city as well as change the perceptions of the city as having fewer entertaining options in the region. Thus, profitability is essential but is a shared objective of the PPP.

Arguably, PPPs' successful execution may increase economic and social value to their communities. However, each PPP is unique to the public sector that originates the project so CSFs may vary in importance to each project. While the findings for this study are unique to this study, they should encourage businesses to participate in the PPP and support their community. Businesses that leverage the findings will increase the probability their PPP efforts lead to successful outcomes.

Recommendations for Action

The results from this study should be shared with business and public sector project leaders engaging, considering participation, or researching PPPs. Businesses need to pay attention to the results to be aware of the critical considerations to increase their probability of success when pursuing this business opportunity. The results of this study can be disseminated through professional forums on PPPs, professional conferences, and professional training events for PPP participants.

The recommendations for this study lie in identifying CSFs, both positive and negatives, identifying risks with PPPs and stakeholder engagement. Studies are available

on identifying critical factors affecting PPP implementation, development, and management of PPP projects (Osei-Kyei & Chan, 2015). The first recommendation in this study is that organizations should review the different lists of CSFs that pertain to their unique project endeavor to establish a baseline of critical success factors. PPPs have been widely applied in infrastructure sectors such as transport, education, healthcare, water, and wastewater treatment, and CSFs literature is available for review. PPP leaders should develop and use project teams of qualified and experienced PPP professionals to identify CSFs for all phases in a project lifecycle. Ideally, there are five elemental phases of a project lifecycle that require CSF identified include prework, starting the project, organizing and preparing, carrying out the work, and completing the project (PMI, 2017). The prework phase may include research on the project and stakeholders and a review of lessons learned in previous projects. Intuitively, the other phases are understandable but require thoughtful consideration to identify those activities that must be done correctly for the project to succeed.

Next, the tendering process is a key critical success factor for selecting competent firms with sound technical solutions for the proposed project. If the public sector is having difficulty finding qualified partners, they should leverage to private investors the opportunity for market entry in areas often restricted to the public sector or access to public resources and the sharing of risks. For businesses, tenderers should submit information on business qualifications, as well as, technical and financial proposals. The tendering process inputs and outputs should be used not only to select the best partners but contribute to the risk assessment and mitigation planning. It is recommended that

project leaders leverage the tendering process to have meaningful dialogue on the purpose and goals of the PPP. Stakeholders must have a clear understanding that when practical, the public sector's best interest supersedes the profitability of the project.

There are no recommendations on whether direct negotiations, competitive negotiations, or competitive tendering are best for PPPs because of the uniqueness and circumstances surrounding each project. However, it is highly recommended during the contract negotiations phase; considerations are made for uncertainties, i.e., potential risks, or opportunities to avoid either exploitation of opportunities or mitigation of losses. The long-term sustainability of a PPP depends heavily on how stakeholders respond to unforeseen challenges; thus, thorough contract negotiations are recommended.

Participants in the study highly recommended that PPPs include individuals with credible prior PPP experience on their teams to ensure proper planning considerations occur.

It is highly recommended that stakeholder engagement is included in the strategy for PPP planning and execution activities. The use of town halls, public forums, local television and radio mediums, and other meeting venues should be used to engage the public sector on PPP plans and activities. It is recommended that the use of citizens on advisory committees will enhance the acceptance of PPPs.

Recommendations for Further Research

The current study used a qualitative method and a multiple case study research design to draw conclusions from experiences of perceptions of experienced PPP participants. The qualitative method was perfect for capturing the personal perspectives from participants about their PPP experiences. However, a quantitative study using

hypothesis testing could further examine the dependent and independent variables of critical success factors such as risk identification to determine the intensity of the relationships and influences of CSF on the success of PPP.

The scope of this study was limited to identifying strategies to offset barriers to PPP success using CSF in a small region of the United States. Future studies may explore strategies on CSF for interstate PPPs as the United States' road and bridge networks are aging and becoming obsolete. As the interstate infrastructure continues to age, the state and the federal government will seek to leverage the private sector to burden share in repairing, improving, and maintaining the lines of communication. Business leaders will assess the body of knowledge of PPPs for the best strategy for unique projects.

The tendering process is critical for PPPs. There is little academic literature on both how to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the PPP tendering stage and which method of tendering is best for PPP success. As previously mentioned, direct negotiations, competitive negotiations, or competitive tendering are methods to select partners for PPPs. Also, a quantitative study to understand the relationship between the tendering method and contract renegotiations will assist PPP leaders with valuable insight to the process.

Reflections

During this study, I was able to research and learn about a procurement method in which I had no prior experience in the subject. This lack of knowledge on the subject limited my biases on the subject and allowed me to be open-minded about data collection

and research on the subject. Several times during my career, I have been fortunate to work on a variety of projects but none to the magnitude of a sports venue or refurbishment of a vintage but exclusive hotel. The experience of this study gave me the serendipity of recognizing why the private sector would want to participant in PPP when the risks may limit the return on investment. During the data collection phase, I become keenly aware that investors sometimes will take risks to penetrate markets or to maintain market share even when financial models may reveal nominal profit available. I also became informed that some PPPs' opportunities offer the private sector a venue to invest a large sum of money that is not always readily available to the private sector. For instance, a toll road, sports stadium, or a water treatment plant could cost millions of dollars, whereas many other investments are for completed lesser amounts. Lastly, this study has allowed me to contribute to the body of knowledge regarding PPPs.

Conclusion

This study explored strategies that project leaders in PPPs use to identify and manage CSFs to offset barriers to profitability throughout a project's lifecycle. The participants perceived that PPPs are often complicated and risk planning, thorough contract negotiations, and having a robust private consortium are top key critical factors to offset barriers to success. While public-private partnerships are ventures that provide the private and the public sectors the opportunity to collaborate on any type of project ranging from infrastructure to public utility to public health, it is essential to have goal congruence during the endeavor. Otherwise, competition among public and private sector goals will challenge the PPPs effectiveness and efficiency.

For the business sector, a PPP provides private stakeholders the opportunity to invest large sums of resources into otherwise unavailable projects. Additionally, PPPs provide the opportunity for market penetration that may only be available by traditional procurement methods. Businesses want to improve the probability they will get a return on investment, and critical success factors bolster the odds of this success. This study confirms that PPP project leaders should identify those critical factors necessary to succeed in these unique projects and incorporate those measures into their strategic project plans to ensure they meet their organizational goals in PPPs.

References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administerial: Ensino e Pesquera*, 19(1), 66-98. doi:10.13058/raep. 2018.v19n1.578
- Agarchand, N., & Laishram, B. (2017). Sustainable infrastructure development challenges through PPP procurement process: Indian perspective. *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 10, 642-662. doi:10.1108/IJMPB-10-2016-0078
- Aggarwal, M., & Suklabaidya, P. (2017). Role of public sector and public private partnership in heritage management: A comparative study of Safdarjung tomb and Humayun tomb. *International Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Systems*, *10*(2), 78-86. Retrieved from http://www.publishingindia.com/
- Agyenim-Boateng, C., Stafford, A., & Stapleton, P. (2017). The role of structure in manipulating PPP accountability. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, 30(1), 119-144. doi:10.1108/AAAJ-01-2014-1590
- Ahmadabadi, A. A., & Heravi, G. (2019). The effect of critical success factors on project success in public-private partnership projects: A case study of highway projects in Iran. *Transport Policy*, 73, 152-161. doi:10.1016/j.tranpol.2018.07.004
- Allen, M., Carpenter, C., Hutchins, M., & Jones, G. (2015). Impact of risk management on project cost: An industry comparison. *Journal of Information Technology & Economic Development*, 6(2), 1-19. Retrieved from https://gsmi-ijgb.com

- Almarri, K., & Boussabaine, H. (2017). The influence of csf on value for money viability analysis in public-private partnership projects. *Project Management Journal*, 48(4), 93-106. Retrieved from https://www.pmi.org/
- Al-Saadi, R., & Abdou, A. (2016). Factors critical for the success of public-private partnerships in UAE infrastructure projects: Experts' perception. *International Journal of Construction Management*, 16, 234-248.

 doi:10.1080/15623599.2016.1146110
- Ameyaw, E. E., & Chan, A. P. C. (2015). Risk allocation in public-private partnership water supply projects in Ghana. *Construction Management & Economics*, *33*, 187-208. doi:10.1080/01446193.2015.1031148
- Ameyaw, E. E., & P.C. Chan, A. (2016). CSF for public-private partnership in water supply projects. *Facilities*, *34*,124-160. doi:10.1108/F-04-2014-0034
- Anderson, V. (2017). Criteria for evaluating qualitative research. *Human Resource Development Quarterly*, 28, 125-133. doi:10.1002/hrdq.21282
- Babatunde, S. O., Perera, S., Zhou, L., & Udeaja, C. (2015). Barriers to public-private partnership projects in developing countries. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 22, 669-691. doi:10.1108/ECA<-12-2014-0159
- Badi, S. M., & Pryke, S. (2016). Assessing the impact of risk allocation on sustainable energy innovation (SEI). *International Journal of Managing Projects in Business*, 9, 259-281. doi:10.1108/IJMPB-10-2015-0103

- Bae, Y., & Joo, Y.-M. (2016). Pathways to meet CSF for local ppps: The cases of urban transport infrastructure in Korean cities. *Cities*, *53*, 35-42. doi: 10.1016/j.cities.2016.01.007
- Baker, N. B. (2017). Transaction costs in public-private partnerships: The weight of institutional quality in developing countries revisited. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 40, 431-455. doi:10.1080/15309576.2016.1244092
- Barnham, C. (2015). Quantitative and qualitative research. *International Journal of Market Research*, *57*, 837-854. doi:10.2501/IJMR-2015-070
- Banihashemi, S., Hosseini, M. R., Golizadeh, H., & Sankaran, S. (2017). Critical success factors (CSFs) for integration of sustainability into construction project management practices in developing countries. *International Journal of Project Management*, 35, 1103-1119. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.01.014
- Benaroch, M., Lichtenstein, Y., & Fink, L. (2016). Contract design choices and the balance of ex ante and ex post transaction costs in software development outsourcing1. *MIS Quarterly*, 40(1), 57-82. Retrieved from https://misq.org
- Benítez-Ávila, C., Hartmann, A., Dewulf, G., & Henseler, J. (2018). Interplay of relational and contractual governance in public-private partnerships: The mediating role of relational norms, trust and partners' contribution. *International Journal of Project Management*, *36*, 429-443. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.12.005
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19, 426-432. doi:10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053

- Boyer, E. J., Rogers, J. D., & Van Slyke, D. M. (2018). Analyzing managerial perceptions of when and how to structure public involvement in public-private partnerships. *Local Government Studies*, *44*, 443-464. doi:10.1080/03003930.2018.1471396
- Boyer, E. J., Van Slyke, D. M., & Rogers, J. D. (2016). An empirical examination of public involvement in public-private partnerships: Qualifying the benefits of public involvement in ppps. *Journal of Public Administration Research & Theory*, 26(1), 45-61. doi:10.1093/jopart/muv008
- Brinkerhoff, D. W., & Brinkerhoff, J. M. (2011). Public-private partnerships:

 Perspectives on purposes, publicness, and good governance. *Public Administration & Development*, *31*(1), 2-14. doi:10.1002/pad.584
- Bromley, E., Mikesell, L., Jones, F., & Khodyakov, D. (2015). Framing health matters from subject to participant: Ethics and the evolving role of community in health research. *American Journal of Public Health*, 105, 900-908. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2014.302403
- Burke, R., & Demirag, I. (2017). Risk transfer and stakeholder relationships in public private partnerships. *Accounting Forum*, 41(1), 28-43. doi: 10.1016/j.accfor.2016.06.04
- Button, K. (2016). public-private partnerships: A review of economic considerations with particular reference to transportation projects. *Transportation Planning and Technology*, *39*, 136-161. doi:10.1080/03081060.2015.1127538

- Carbonara, N., Costantino, N., & Pellegrino, R. (2014). Concession period for ppps: A win-win model for a fair risk sharing. *International Journal of Project*Management, 32, 1223-1232. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.01.007
- Carbonara, N., & Pellegrino, R. (2018). Revenue guarantee in public-private partnerships: A win-win model. *Construction Management & Economics*, *36*, 584-598. doi:10.1080/01446193.2018.1467028
- Carter, N., Bryant-Lukosius, D., DiCenso, A., Blythe, J., & Neville, A. J. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 41, 545-547. doi: 10.1188/14.ONF.545-547
- Carpintero, S., & Helby Petersen, O. (2016). Public-private partnerships (ppps) in local services: risk-sharing and private delivery of water services in Spain. *Local Government Studies*, 42, 958-979. doi:10.1080/03003930.2016.1204297
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, *21*, 811-831. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Chen, C., M. Hubbard, & C.-S. Liao. (2013). When public-private partnerships fail:

 Analyzing citizen engagement in public-private partnerships cases from Taiwan and China. *Public Management Review*, *15*, 839-857.

 doi:10.1080/14719037.2012.698856
- Chopra, K. (2017). The pareto principle in leveraging dynamic Compliance program effectiveness. *Journal of Health Care Compliance*, *19*(1), 23-53. Retrieved for https://compliance.com/publications/

- Chou, J.S., & Pramudawardhani, D. (2015). Cross-country comparisons of key drivers, critical success factors and risk allocation for public-private partnership projects.

 *International Journal of Project Management, 33, 1136-1150. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.12.003
- Chung, D. (2016). Risks, challenges, and value for money of public-private partnerships. Financial Accountability & Management, 32, 448-468. doi:10.1111/faam.12101
- Chung, D., & Hensher, D. (2015a). Risk management in public-private partnerships. *Australian Accounting Review*, 25(1), 13-27. doi:10.1111/auar.12062
- Chung, D., & Hensher, D. A. (2015b). Modeling risk perceptions of stakeholders in public-private partnership toll road contracts. *Abacus*, *51*, 437-483. doi:10.1111/abac.12052
- Clerck, D., & Demeulemeester, E. (2016). A sequential procurement model for a ppp project pipeline. *OR Spectrum*, *38*, 427-457. doi:10.1007/s00291-015-0421-z
- Crane, A. D., Koch, A., & Wei, C. (2018). Choosing the Precision of Performance

 Metrics. *Journal of Financial & Quantitative Analysis*, *53*, 1911-1935.

 doi:10.1017/s0022109018000303
- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C.N. (2017). *Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Danau, D., & Vinella, A. (2015). Public-Private Contracting under Limited Commitment. *Journal of Public Economic Theory*, 17(1), 78-110. doi:10.1111/jpet.12113

- Davis, K. (2018). Reconciling the Views of Project Success: A Multiple StakeholderModel. *Project Management Journal*, 49(5), 38-47.doi:10.1177/8756972818786663
- De Schepper, S., Dooms, M., & Haezendonck, E. (2014). Stakeholder dynamics and responsibilities in Public-Private Partnerships: A mixed experience. *International Journal of Project Management*, 32, 1210-1222. doi: 10.1016/j.ijproman.2014.01.006
- Demirel, H. Ç., Lenders, W., Volker, L., & Hartog, M. (2017). Flexibility in PPP contracts Dealing with potential change in the pre-contract phase of a construction project. *Construction Management and Economics*, *35*, 196–206. doi:10.1080/01446193.2016.1241414
- Der Sahakian, G., Alinier, G., Savoldelli, G., Oriot, D., Jaffrelot, M., & Lecomte, F. (2015). Setting conditions for productive debriefing. *Simulation & Gaming*, 46, 197-208. doi:10.1177/1046878115576105
- Dodgson, J. E. (2017). About research: Qualitative methodologies. *Journal of Human Lactation*, *33*, 355-358. doi:10.1177/0890334417698693
- Domingues, S., & Zlatkovic, D. (2015). Renegotiating ppp contracts: Reinforcing the 'p'' in partnership.' *Transport Reviews*, *35*(2), 204-225. doi:10.1080/1441647.2014.992495
- Doody, O., & Bailey, M. E. (2016). Setting a research question, aim and objective. *Nurse Researcher*, 23(4), 19-23. doi:10.7748/nr.23.4.19.s5

- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13-35. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916212X632943
- Eshghi, A., Mousavi, s. M., Antucheviciene, J., & Mohagheghi, V. (2019). Earned value analysis approach by extending new key performance indicators in a new framework under a grey environment. *Economic computation & economic cybernetics studies & research*, *53*(3), 131-50. doi:10.24818/18423264/53.3.19.08
- Gansler, J.S., & Lucyshyn, W. (2016). *Public-private partnerships: Leveraging private*resources for the public good. Retrieved from

 http://cpppe.umd.edu/publications/public-private-partnerships-leveraging-private-resources-public-good
- Gajendran, T., Jefferies, M., & Brewer, G. (2014). Using a case study approach to identify csf for alliance contracting. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 21, 465-480. doi:10.1108/ECAM-01-2012-0007
- Gascó-Hernández, M., Martin, E. G., Reggi, L., Pyo, S., & Luna-Reyes, L. F. (2018).

 Promoting the use of open government data: Cases of training and engagement.

 Agile Government and Adaptive Governance in the Public Sector, 35, 233-242.

 doi:10.1016/j.giq.2018.01.003
- Greco, L. (2015). Imperfect bundling in public-private partnerships. *Journal of Public Economic Theory*, *17*, 136-146. doi:10.1111/jpet.12122
- Gould, R. K., Klain, S. C., Ardoin, N. M., Satterfield, T., Woodside, U., Hannahs, N., Chan, K. M. (2015). A protocol for eliciting nonmaterial values through a cultural

- ecosystem services frame. *Conservation Biology*, *29*, 575-586. doi:10.1111/cobi.12407
- Guest, G., Namey, E., Taylor, J., Eley, N., & McKenna, K. (2017). Comparing focus groups and individual interviews: Findings from a randomized study.

 International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 20, 693-708.

 doi:10.1080/13645579.2017.1281601
- Hadi, M. A., & Jose Closs, S. (2016). Ensuring rigor and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, *3*, 641. doi:10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Haponava, T., & Al-Jibouri, S. (2012). Proposed system for measuring project performance using process-based key performance indicators. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, 28(2), 140-149. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000078
- Harvey, L. (2015). Beyond member-checking: a dialogic approach to the research interview. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 38(1), 23-38. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2014.914487
- Hollund, S., Hyland, S., Olsen, O. E. (2015). Gaining access to a research site and participants in medical and nursing research: a synthesis of accounts. *Medical Education*, *2*,224. doi:10.1111/medu.12622
- Hu, B., Leopold, A., & Pickl, S. (2015). Concept and prototype of a web tool for public-private project contracting based on a system dynamics model. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 23, 407-419. doi:10.1007/s10100-014-0378-z

- Hueskes, M., Verhoest, K., & Block, T. (2017). Governing public-private partnerships for sustainability: An analysis of procurement and governance practices of PPP infrastructure projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, *35*, 1184-1195. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2017.02.020
- Ileana, N., & Cristina, P. E. (2015). Public-private partnership offers no magic solutions, but a method for resolving community needs. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, *24*, 295-303. Retrieved from https://anale.steconomiceuoradea.ro/en/journal-archive/
- Demirag, I., Khadaroo, I., Stapleton, P., & Stevenson, C. (2012). The diffusion of risks in public-private partnership contracts. *Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal*, *25*, 1317-1339. doi:10.1108/09513571211275498
- Jacob, S. A., & Furgerson, S. P. (2012). Writing interview protocols and conducting interviews: tips for students new to the field of qualitative research. *Qualitative Report*, 17,1-10. Retrieved from http://nsuworks.nova.edu/
- Jacobson, C., & Choi, S. O. (2008). Success factors: public works and public-private partnerships. *The International Journal of Public Sector Management*, *21*, 637-657. doi:10.1108/09513550810896514
- Johnson, Brett, Liu, J., & Flagiello, M. (2016). Are project management credentials worth it for cpas? *CPA Journal*, 86(5), 11-11. Retrieved from https://www.cpajournal.com/

- Keers, B. B. M., & van Fenema, P. C. (2018). Managing risks in public-private partnership formation projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 36, 861-875. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2018.05.001
- Kisely, S., & Kendall, E. (2011). Critically appraising qualitative research: a guide for clinicians more familiar with quantitative techniques. *Australasian Psychiatry:**Bulletin Of Royal Australian And New Zealand College Of Psychiatrists, 19, 364-367. doi:10.3109/10398562.2011.562508
- Koch, R. (1997). *The 80/20 principle: The secret to achieving more with less*. London: Nicholas Brealey Publishing.
- Łakomy-Zinowik, M. (2017). Public-private partnership as an alternative source of financing of public tasks. *Ekonomia i Prawo*, *16*, (1), 75-86. doi:10.12775/EiP.2017.006
- Lehnert, K., Craft, J., Singh, N., & Park, Y.-H. (2016). The human experience of ethics: a review of a decade of qualitative ethical decision-making research. *Business Ethics: A European Review*, 25, 498-537. doi:10.111/beer.12129
- Lehtiranta, L. (2013). Collaborative risk management processes: a constructive case study. *Engineering Project Organization Journal*, *3*, 198-212. doi:10.1080/21573727.2013.832671
- Li, G., Fan, H., Lee, P. K. C., & Cheng, T. C. E. (2015). Joint supply chain risk management: An agency and collaboration perspective. *International Journal of Production Economics*, *164(1)*, 83-94. doi:10.1016/j.ijpe.2015.02.021

- Liao, H., & Hitchcock, J. (2018). Reported credibility techniques in higher education evaluation studies that use qualitative methods: A research synthesis. *Evaluation and Program Planning*, 68, 157-165. doi:10.1016/j.evalprogplan.2018.03.005
- Liu, H. J., Love, P. E. D., Smith, J., Irani, Z., Hajli, N., & Sing, M. C. P. (2018). From design to operations: a process management life-cycle performance measurement system for Public-Private Partnerships. *Production Planning & Control*, 29(1), 68-83.doi:10.1080/09537287.2017.1382740
- Liu J., Love, P.D., Smith, J., Regan, M. & Davis, P.R. (2015). Life cycle CSF for public-private partnership infrastructure projects. *Journal of Management in Engineering*, *31*, 732-737. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)ME.1943-5479.0000307
- Liu, T., Wang, Y., & Wilkinson, S. (2016). Identifying critical factors affecting the effectiveness and efficiency of tendering processes in public-private partnerships (ppps): A comparative analysis of Australia and China. *International Journal of Project Management*, 34, 701-716. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2016.01.004
- Liu, T., & Wilkinson, S. (2014). Large-scale public venue development and the application of Public-Private Partnerships (PPPs). *International Journal of Project Management*, *32*(1), 88-100. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.01.003
- Loosemore, M., & Cheung, E. (2015). Implementing systems thinking to manage risk in public-private partnership projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 33, 1325-1334. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.02.005

- Lucyshyn, W., Vitale, M. C., & Steinhoff, J. C. (2016). Using public-private partnerships to reduce costs and enhance services. *Journal of Government Financial Management*, 65(4), 18-24. Retrieved from https://agacgfm.org/
- Mader, D., Vitters, C., & Obbagy, J. (2018). Restoring trust in government through transparency by using accounting and enforcing accountability. *Journal of Government Financial Management*, 67(3), 42-47. Retrieved from https://agacgfm.org/
- Marion, J. W., Richardson, T., & Earnhardt, M. (2016). Project execution: a research agenda to explore the phenomenon. *Journal of Modern Project Management*, *4*(1), 70-79. Retrieved from http://www.journalmodernpm.com
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research?: A review of qualitative interviews in is research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, *54*(1), 11-22. doi:10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667
- Maslova, S. V., & Sokolov, M. Y. (2017). Risk management in public-private partnership projects in health care: Application of current approach and its improvement.

 **Academy of Strategic Management Journal, 16(4), 1-17. Retrieved from https://www.abacademies.org/
- Md. Ali, A., & Yusof, H. (2011) Quality in qualitative studies: the case of validity, reliability, and generalizability. *Issues in Social and Environmental Accounting*, 5, 25-64. Retrieved from https://iise.org/Journals/index.php/

- Mirela-Oana, P., Adrian, A. S., & Viorel, L. (2013). Transparency of local budgets in the north-west region of Romania. *Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series*, *22*, 931-941. Retrieved from http://steconomiceuoradea.ro/
- Molwus, J. J., Erdogan, B., & Ogunlana, S. (2017). Using structural equation modeling (sem) to understand the relationships among CSF for stakeholder management in construction. *Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management*, 24, 426-450. doi:10.1108/ECAM-10-2015-0161
- Morse, J. M. (2015). Critical analysis of strategies for determining rigor in qualitative inquiry. *Qualitative Health Research*, *25*, 1212-1222. doi:10.1177/1049732315588501
- Mota, J., & Moreira, A. C. (2015). The importance of non-financial determinants on public-private partnerships in Europe. *International Journal of Project*Management, 33, 1563-1575. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.04.005
- Moynihan, G. P., & Harsh, C. (2016). Evolution and current state of construction project delivery methods: A two-stage investigation. *International Journal of Construction Project Management*, 8(1), 57-70. Retrieved from http://www.novapublishers.org/
- Myers, M.D. (2013). *Qualitative research in business & management* (2nd ed.).

 Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc
- Nancy, C., Denise, B.-L., Alba, D., Jennifer, B., & Alan J., N. (2014). The use of triangulation in qualitative research. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 5, 545. doi:10.1188/14.ONF.545-547

- Nolan, J. (2014). Refining the rules of the game: The corporate responsibility to respect human rights. *Utrecht Journal of International and European Law*, 30(78). doi:10.5334/ujiel.ca
- Oliveira, M., Bitencourt, C. C., Zanardo dos Santos, A. C. M., & Teixeira, E. K. (2016).

 Thematic content analysis: is there a difference between the support provided by the MAXQDA® and NVIVO® software packages? *Análise de Conteúdo Temática*: *Há Uma Diferença na Utilização e nas Vantagens Oferecidas Pelos Softwares MAXQDA® E NVIVO®? MAXQDA® E NVIVO®?*, 9(1), 72-82. doi:10.5902/1983465911213
- Osei-Kyei, R., & Chan, A. P. C. (2015). Review of studies on the csf for public-private partnership (ppp) projects from 1990 to 2013. *International Journal of Project Management*, *33*, 1335-1346. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2015.02.008
- Osei-Kyei, R., & Chan, A. P. C. (2017a). Empirical comparison of csf for public-private partnerships in developing and developed countries. *Engineering Construction & Architectural Management*, 24, 1222-1245. doi:10.1108/ECAM-06-2016-0144
- Osei-Kyei, R., & Chan, A. P. C. (2017b). Implementation constraints in public-private partnership. *Journal of Facilities Management*, *15*(1), 90-106. doi:10.1108/JFM-07-2016-0032
- Osei-Kyei, R., Chan, A. P. C., Javed, A. A., & Ameyaw, E. E. (2017). Critical success criteria for public-private partnership projects: international experts' opinion. *International Journal of Strategic Property Management*, 21, 87-100.

 doi:0.3846/1648715X.2016.1246388

- Overview of public-private partnerships in highway and transit projects, panel on public-private partnership of the committee transportation and infrastructure (2014).

 Retrieved from https://www.gpo.gov
- Padma, P., Rosa, Á., & Antonio, N. (2017). Antecedents and consequences of mutual trust in ppps. *Journal of Relationship Marketing*, *16*(3), 163–178. doi:10.1080/15332667.2017.1349553
- Park, J. & Park, M. (2016). Qualitative versus qualitative research method: Discovery or justification?. *Journal Of Marketing Thought*, 3(1), 1-7. doi:10.15577/jmt.2016.03.01.1
- Parker, D.W., Dressel, U., Chevers, D., & Zeppetella, L. (2018). Agency theory perspective on public-private-partnerships: international development project.
 International Journal of Productivity and Performance Management, 67, 239-259. doi:10.1108/IJPPM-09-2016-0191
- Paulus, T., Woods, M., Atkins, D. P., & Macklin, R. (2017). The discourse of QDAS: reporting practices of ATLAS.ti and NVivo users with implications for best practices. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 20(1), 35-47. doi:10.1080/13645579.2015.1102454
- Perrenoud, A. J., Lines, B. C., Sullivan, K.T. (2014). Measuring risk management performance within a capital program. *Journal of Facilities Management*, *12*(2), 158-171. doi:10.1108/JFM-03-2013-0018

- Petković, M., Djedović-Nègre, D., & Lukić, J. (2015). Public-private partnerships:

 Interorganizational design as key success factor. *Management*, 20(77),1-11. doi: 10.7595/management.for.2015.0028
- Project Management Institute. (2017). *A guide to the project management body of knowledge (PMBOK® Guide)* (6th ed.). Newton Square, Pennsylvania: Project Management Institute, Inc. Retrieved from https://su-svevalidate.skillport.com/skillportfe/main.action?assetid=132589
- Rakić, B., & Rađenović, T. (2014). Real options methodology In public-private partnership projects valuation. *Ekonomski Anali / Economic Annals*, *59*, 91-113. doi:10.2298/EKA1400091R
- Rebello, A., Venkatesan, V., McConnell, C., Ehrhard, D., Schur, M., Bowman, C., Marques, A.L., Siqueira, M., Foster, R., Unkovski, I., (2016). *The APMG PPP Certification Guide*. High Wycombe, Buckinghamshire: ADB, EBRD, IDB, IsDB, MIF, PPIAF and WBG. Retrieved from https://ppp-certification.com/pppguide/download
- Reeves, E., Palcic, D., & Flannery, D. (2015). PPP procurement in Ireland: An analysis of tendering periods. *Local Government Studies*, *41*, 379-400. doi:10.1080/03003930.2014.982108
- Reynaers, A.M., & De Graaf, G. (2014). Public values in public-private partnerships. *International Journal of Public Administration*, 37(2), 120-128.

 doi:10.1080/01900692.2013.836665

- Rockart, J. F. (1979). Chief executives define their own data needs. *Harvard Business Review*, *57*(2), 81. Retrieved from http://europepmc.org/
- Roumboutsos, A., & Saussier, S. (2014). Public-private partnerships and investments in innovation: the influence of the contractual arrangement. *Construction Management & Economics*, 32, 349-361. doi:10.1080/01446193.2014.895849
- Rovai, A. P., Baker, J. D., & Ponton, M. K. (2014). Social science research design and statistics: A practitioner's guide to research methods and IBS SBSS analysis (2nd ed.). Chesapeake, VA: Watertree Press LLC.
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Sanders, R. (1988). The Pareto principle its use and abuse. *The Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 3(2), 37. doi:10.1108/eb024706
- Sarmento, J. M., & Renneboog, L. (2016). Anatomy of public-private partnerships: Their creation, financing, and renegotiations. *International Journal of Managing*Projects in Business, 9, 94-122. doi:10.1108/IJMPB-03-2015-0023
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th). NY: Pearson Education
- Serra, M., Psarra, S., & O'Brien, J. (2018). Social and physical characterization of urban contexts: Techniques and methods for quantification, classification and purposive sampling. *Urban Planning*, *3*(1), 58-74. doi:10.17645/up.v3i.1269
- Sharma, J. P., Bajpai, N., & Holani, U. (2011). Organizational citizenship behavior in public and private sector and Its impact on job satisfaction: A comparative study

- in Indian perspective. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *6*(1), 67-76. doi.10.5539/ijbm.v6n1p67
- Shiying S., Chong, H.Y., Liu, L., & Ye, X. (2016). Examining the interrelationship among csf of public private partnership Infrastructure Projects. *Sustainability*, 8, 1313-1313. doi:10.3390/su8121313
- Smith, E., Umans, T., & Thomasson, A. (2018). Stages of ppp and principal-agent conflicts: the swedish water and sewerage sector. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 41, 100-129. doi:10.1080/15309576.2017.1368399
- Smith, T. (2018). Qualitative & quantitative research. *Qualitative & Quantitative Research Research Starters Education*, 1,1-8. Retrieved from https://www.worldcat.org/
- Soilkki, K. K., Cassim, N., & Karodia, A. M. (2014). An evaluation of the factors influencing the performance of registered nurses at the national referral hospital in Namibia. *Australian Journal of Business and Management Research*, *4*(2), 47-62. Retrieved from https://ajbmr.com/
- Soliño, A. S., & Gago de Santos, P. (2017). Influence of the Tendering Mechanism in the Performance of Public-Private Partnerships: A Transaction Cost Approach. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 40(1), 97–118.

 doi:10.1080/15309576.2016.1177558
- Sotiriadou, P., Brouwers, J., & Le, T. A. (2014). Choosing a qualitative data analysis tool: A comparison of NVivo and Leximancer. *Annals of Leisure Research*, *17*, 218-234. doi:10.1080/11745398.2014.902292

- Stadtler, L. (2016). Scrutinizing public-private partnerships for development: towards a broad evaluation conception. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *135*(1), 71-86. doi:10.1007/s10551-015-2730-1
- Starr, M. A. (2014). Qualitative and mixed-methods research in economics: Surprising growth, promising future. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, *28*, 238-264. doi:10.1111/joes.12004
- Swamy, R. R., Tiwari, P., & Sawhney, A. (2018). Assessing determinants of PPP project performance: Applying AHP to urban drinking water sector in India. *Property Management*, *36*(1), 67-85. doi:10.1108/PM-08-2016-0046
- Turner, S. F., Cardinal, L. B., & Burton, R. M. (2017). Research design for mixed methods. *Organizational Research Methods*, 20, 243-267. doi:10.1177/1094428115610808
- U.S. Census Bureau, *County Business Patterns*. (2017). Retrieved from https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/cbp/data/datasets.html
- Van Den Hurk, M., & Verhoest, K. (2016). The challenge of using standard contracts in public-private partnerships. *Public Management Review*, *18*, 278-299. doi:10.1080/14719037.2014.984623
- University of North Carolina-School of Government. (2014) *Community and Economic Development in North Carolina and Beyond*. Retrieved from https://ced.sog.unc.edu/
- Verwwej, s., Loomans, O., & Leendertse, W. (2019). The role of the public partner in innovation in transport infrastructure ppps: A qualitative comparative analysis of

- nine Dutch dbfm projects. Public Works Management & Policy, 25(1), 5-32. doi:10.1177/1087724x19877215
- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems.

 **MIS Quarterly*, (1), 21. Retrieved from https://misq.org/
- Vijayabanu, C., & Vignesh, T. (2018). Critical factors determining the success of publicprivate partnership in construction projects: An Indian context. *Journal of Modern Project Management*, (1), 24-39. doi:10.19255/JMPMO1503
- Wang, Y., & Zhao, Z. J. (2018). Performance of public-private partnerships and the influence of contractual arrangements. *Public Performance & Management Review*, 41, 177-200. doi:10.1080/15309576.2017.1400989
- Watts, L. L., Todd, E. M., Mulhearn, T. J., Medeiros, K. E., Mumford, M. D., & Connelly, S. (2017). Qualitative evaluation methods in ethics education: A systematic review and analysis of best practices. *Accountability in Research*, 24, 225-242. doi:10.1080/08989621.2016.1274975
- Węgrzyn, J. (2016). The perception of critical success factors for ppp projects in different stakeholder Ggoups. *Entrepreneurial Business and Economics Review*, 4(2), 81-92. doi:10.15678/EBER.2016.040207
- Wibowo, A., & Alfen, H. W. (2014). Identifying macro-environmental CSF and key areas for improvement to promote public-private partnerships in infrastructure.

 *Engineering Construction & Architectural Management (09699988), 21, 383-402. doi:10.1108/ECAM-08-2013-0078

- Wolgemuth, J. R., Erdil-Moody, Z., Opsal, T., Cross, J. E., Kaanta, T., Dickmann, E. M., & Colomer, S. (2014). Participants' experiences of the qualitative interview: considering the importance of research paradigms. *Qualitative Research*, 15, 351-372. doi.10.1177/1468794114524222
- Yanto C., & Liang S. (2017). An rqda-based constructivist methodology for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, *20*, 90-112. doi:10.1108/QMR-02-2016-0014
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case Study Research and Applications: Design and Methods* (6th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Zou, W., Kumaraswamy, M., Chung, J., & Wong, J. (2014). Identifying the critical success factors for relationship management in PPP projects. *International Journal of Project Management*, 32, 265-274. doi:10.1016/j.ijproman.2013.05.004
- Zuo, J., Zhao, Z., Nguyen, Q. B. M., & Ma, T. (2018). Soft skills of construction project management professionals and project success factors: A structural equation model. *Engineering Construction & Architectural Management*, 25, 425-42. doi:10.1108/ECAM-01-2016-0016

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Things to remember:

Ensure recording devices are charged,
Collect the signed consent form,
Take notes during interview,
Maintain eye contact,
Turn off ringer on cell phone,
Ask probing questions,
Keep interview focus on research topic,
Be genuine and show interest in what participants are saying,
Do not interrupt participants and show I am listening carefully.

Introduction: Greetings: __XXXXXX _____ Thank you for taking time out of your busy schedule to participant in my study study to address strategies for identifying and managing Public-Private Partnerships' critical success factors to offset barriers to profitability in a projects' lifecycle. I invited you because of your either Public-Private Partnership (PPP) or project management leadership or experience from either the private or public sector .

Again, I want to emphasize this study is voluntary. Everyone will respect your decision of whether or not you choose to be in the study. No one will treat you differently if you decide not to be in the study. Even though you are about to participant in the study now, you can still change your mind later. You may stop at any time.

Being in this type of study involves some risk of the minor discomforts that can be encountered in daily life, such as <u>fatigue</u>, <u>stress</u>, or <u>becoming upset</u>. Being in this study would not pose risk to your safety or wellbeing.

The study's potential benefits are the betterment of PPPs. PPPs could become more profitable if barriers to profitability are mitigated. Potentially there is a higher probability for local and state governments to deliver their required public service with the optimal cost.

As mentioned in the consent form, any information you provide will be kept confidential with the exception of criminal activity. Criminal activity can include financial fraud, theft, criminal negligence, tax evasion, work/residency regulations, or other crimes that do injure or harm persons. If the research procedures reveal these types of crimes, I have an obligation to report this information to the appropriate authorities.

I will not use your personal information for any purposes outside of this research project. Also, I will not include your name or anything else that could identify you in the study reports. Data will be kept secure by a secure drive that is password protected. All notes, transcripts,

and diagrams will be locked in secure container. Data will be kept for a period of at least 5 years, as required by the university.

After this interview I will synthesize the interview and provide you a copy of my recap to verify that I captured your perspective correctly in my notes and recording. Do you have any questions? I know your time is valuable so let's begin.

NOTES: Follow Up Questions:	1. What strategies do city project leaders
	use to identify and manage CSFs to offset
	barriers to profitability in PPP
	2. What strategies do you use to establish
	the PPP and to mitigate risks?
	č
	3. How have you addressed the key
	challenges to forming and participating in
	a PPP?
	4. What are the measures of success for
	PPP within your organization?
	111 within your organization:
	5. How do you ensure you reach your
	measures of success in a PPP?
	ineasures of success in a FFF?
	6. How do you identify strategies to
	manage CSFs to ensure profitability of
	PPP projects?
	rrr projects!
	7 Many DDDs are long term projects
	7. Many PPPs are long-term projects
	extending more than 20 years. How do
	you ensure sustainability over a long-term
	lifecycle of a project and minimize
	reliance on contract renegotiations?
	8. What additional information that you
	consider essential to ensure the long-term
	success of public-private partnerships that
	I did not ask that you want to add?
	·

Wrap Up

Thank you so much taking time out of your busy schedule to participant in this study. As I mentioned I will provide you a copy of my interpretation of your answers for you to verify that I captured your perspective. I will send you the document by email and you may respond if you like or you are not required to do so. However, I definitely would like you to make corrections if necessary If you have concerns later, you can reach me by email or call me and my information is on the consent form. Again, thank you for your participation.